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serving, giving, inspiring.

our vision. To be a world-class voluntary welfare organization that advances the development, well-being and 
aspirations of persons with intellectual disability (PWIDs) and their integration into society.

our mission. To maximise the development and well-being of persons with intellectual disability through the 
provision of a comprehensive range of quality services. To empower persons with intellectual disability and their families so 
as to enable them to maximize their potential and fulfill their aspirations. To advocate the interests and causes of persons with 
intellectual disability so as to enable them to participate as fully as possible in society.

our strategy. In line with MINDS vision and mission, MINDS’ overarching strategy has always been a continual 
review, improvement and evolution of our services in anticipation of our clients’ changing needs in their life-cycle. MINDS aims 
to provide a seamless range of quality services that meets the current and future needs of persons with intellectual disability 
(PWIDs) and their caregivers, so as to be an anchor player and thought leader in serving PWIDs. 

The baby boom years of the 1960s saw MINDS providing education for young PWIDs. As they grew up, MINDS advanced 
beyond early education to introduce vocational training in the form of sheltered workshops, creating employment opportunities 
for many PWIDs.

In recent years, MINDS has set up more Training & Development Centres (TDC) and a residential home as older PWIDs require 
greater support. A home-based care service and a Me Too! Club have been launched to assist and reach out to PWIDs who 
are unable to attend the TDCs for various reasons and PWIDs who are socially isolated, respectively.

To further enable integration and inclusion into society, MINDS has initiated a Community Group Home that encourages 
independent living among PWIDs who have relatively lower support needs. MINDS has also established a Caregiver Support 
Services Centre, to recognise and give support to the critical role that caregivers play, in order to provide PWIDs a better 
quality of life to realise their potential.

integrity 
We conduct ourselves with high 
standards of honesty and ethical 

behaviour to uphold strong corporate 
governance and accountability  

for the public trust.

respect 
We regard every individual with dignity 
and respect regardless of age, gender, 
race, religion, abilities and disabilities.

professionalism 

We strive for excellence to  
deliver quality outcomes  

in everything we do.

1 2 3

our core values. At the heart of our core values, lies our resolve to be client focused. That encompasses 
compassion and understanding towards the clients, and resilience and tenacity to strive against odds to close gaps and build 
services to improve the wellbeing of our clients and to meet their needs.
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principal
officers

Mr Jeffrey Tan / President

Mr Robin Chua / Vice President

Mr Huang Cheng Eng / Vice President

Mrs Doreen Yap / Hon Secretary

Mr Jeffrey Tan became the President of MINDS in 2013. Mr Tan began volunteering 
in MINDS Youth Group (the voluntary wing of MINDS) in 1990 and joined MINDS 
Exco in 1995 as its Honorary Assistant Treasurer. For the past 18 years, before 
assuming the Presidency, Mr Tan was the Honorary Treasurer and Honorary 
Secretary of MINDS. A qualified accountant, Mr Tan officially retired in 2014, 
having worked as the Regional Finance Director for an American listed company 
in the Oil & Gas industry, for 25 years. Mr Tan also serves on the Board of the 
Children’s Charities Association as a Director, since his appointment in 1997.

Mr Robin Chua became the Vice President of MINDS in 2013. He joined MINDS 
in 1983 and held various positions of responsibility on its Board and sub-
committees from 1984 to 1994. During the same period he also served on the 
Board of the Children's Charities Association, Singapore Association of the Visually 
Handicapped and Disabled People's Association. He was President of Special 
Olympics Singapore for more than 20 years. Mr Chua, an engineer by training, 
is also in voluntary community service since 1994 and sits on various committees, 
including Ang Mo Kio Primary SAC. Mr Chua is a recipient of the Public Service 
medal (1992) and the Public Service Star (2001).

Mr Huang Cheng Eng was elected as Vice President of MINDS in September 2015. 
He also presently chairs the Social Enterprise and Employment Development 
Committee. Mr Huang has extensive experience in the commercial and marketing 
fields. Before his retirement in 2010, he was the Executive Vice President - 
Marketing and the Overseas Regions at Singapore Airlines (SIA) and was the 
overall in-charge of SIA's global commercial and marketing activities locally as well 
as SIA's overseas offices. During his stint at SIA, he also served as the Chairman of 
SATS Catering Pte. Ltd, SIA Cargo Pte. Ltd and SilkAir Pte. Ltd. He had also served 
on the Board of Virgin Atlantic Airways and the Singapore Tourism Board. He is 
currently an independent board director of the Far East Hospitality REIT and of M1 
Ltd. Besides MINDS, he is also an Exco member of the Children's Aid Society. 

Mrs Doreen Yap serves as the Honorary Secretary of MINDS since 2015. She was 
first co-opted as a member into MINDS Exco in 1998* till 2004 upon retirement 
from the workforce. Mrs Yap returned to MINDS Exco in 2011 as an elected 
member and became Honorary Assistant Secretary in 2013. She was also a 
member of the Human Resource Sub-Committee, the Public Relations, Education 
and Communications Sub-Committee and currently chairs the Volunteer and 
Donor Management Sub-Committee at MINDS. Mrs Yap was a Biology Teacher 
under the Ministry of Education from 1968-1973 and began working at Singapore 
Airlines (SIA) from 1973 to 2004 covering a range of positions from Cabin Crew 
Administration, Flight Operations, Navigation Systems and Systems Planning and 
ended her career in SIA as a Senior Manager for Pilot Recruitment, Manpower 
Planning and Administration. During her tenure at SIA, Mrs Yap was instrumental 
in SIA's Social Service Committee to select a VWO to make a substantial donation 
to and adopt as part of SIA's 50th Anniversary Commemoration in 1998. This 
Committee had selected MINDS as the recipient of this donation and adoption. 
Mrs Yap currently volunteers with Teen Challenge in Prisons Ministry and with 
RSVP as a Primary School mentor. 
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Ms Jamie Lau / Hon Treasurer

Mr Mike Lee / Hon Asst Secretary

Mr Mike Lee was elected to MINDS Exco on 19 September 2015 as Honorary 
Assistant Secretary. He was first elected to MINDS Exco in 2013. He also serves 
as the member of our Residential and Community-based Care Services sub-
committee since 2013, the Allied Health Professionals sub-committee since 2014 
and also chairs the Caregivers’ Support sub-committee since 2013. 

A caregiver of a child with special needs, Mr Lee has officially retired after having 
worked as a Senior Director in a publicly listed US multinational for 22 years.

Ms Jamie Lau Lee Hua was elected to MINDS Exco on 19 September 2015 as 
Honorary Treasurer. Prior to that, she was also the Honorary Treasurer in 2009 and 
2013. Ms Lau had previously served under the Audit and Volunteer and Donor 
Management sub-committees. 

Ms Lau is the Founder and Managing Partner of, Lau Lee Hua & Co, a certified 
public accounting firm which specialize in working with Small and Medium 
Enterprises. Lau Lee Hua & Co offers a wide range of services, including statutory 
audit of financial statements, special audit and investigation, accounting, 
compilation of annual financial statements, preparation of tax returns, providing 
advice on tax planning and compliance, management consultancy, corporate 
secretariat services, forensic accounting and litigation report. She founded Lau 
Lee Hua & Co in 1995 when she was made a Practicing member of The Institute of 
Public Accountants of Singapore

Mr David Loh / Honorary Asst. Treasurer

Capt Roger Loh / Member

Mr David Loh is the current Honorary Assistant Treasurer of MINDS. Prior to this, 
he was the Honorary Auditor, a position he held since 2013. From 2000-2014, 
he was the Chief Financial Officer of Kinergy Ltd, a company formerly listed on the 
SGX-ST. He is an accountancy graduate from the former University of Singapore, 
and a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Singapore. 

Captain Roger Loh has served as a member on MINDS Exco since 1997 and 
currently chairs the Residential & Community-Based Care Services Committee, 
a post he has held since 2009. He has also been involved in the Social Enterprise 
and Employment Development Committee and the Human Resource Committee. 
Captain Roger has been an airline pilot for over 36 years beginning his career 
at SIA in 1978 as a cadet. He is currently an instructor pilot. He is also the Vice 
President of Special Olympics Singapore since 1999. 
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principal
officers

Mr Ong Wee Gee / Member

Ms Tan Li San / Member

Mr Gary Ng / Member

Mr Daniel Tan / Member

Mr Ong Wee Gee currently serves as the Chairman of the Finance and 
Investment Committee of MINDS. He was elected to MINDS Exco as a member 
on 19 September 2015. His was first elected to Exco as MINDS’ Honorary 
Assistant Treasurer in 1999 and became Honorary Treasurer from 2009 to 2013. 
Prior to that, he had served in various capacities under MINDS’ subsidiary 
voluntary wing - MINDS MYG, since 1993. He eventually became Chairman of 
MINDS MYG from 1996 to 1997. Mr Ong joined Equinix in 2006 and now serves 
as Vice President of Finance, Equinix Asia-Pacific. Based in Singapore, he is 
responsible for all financial and fiscal management aspects of Equinix Asia Pacific 
operations. He oversees the company’s financial planning, accounting, budgeting, 
treasury, tax and internal audit functions. Prior to joining Equinix, Mr Ong worked 
at IBM for 13 years, covering all major functional areas from accounting and 
pricing to contract financial management and cost control. During his final role 
as Chief Financial Officer for IBM Singapore, he was responsible for the finance 
and administration operations of all business units across hardware and software 
sales, delivery and IT services. Mr Ong’s expertise lies in the setup of new finance 
organizations and management systems for companies’ new business units.

Mr Daniel Tan Tai Leng was elected to MINDS Exco on 19 September 2015. 
He has been an elected member since 2008. Mr Tan has served in the Social 
Enterprise and Employment Development sub-committee, as well as the School 
Management Committee, Public Relations, Education and Communications 
sub-committee and was the former chairman of the Volunteer and Donor 
Management committee. He was also the chairperson for MINDS MYG, 
MINDS’ subsidiary voluntary wing from 2007 to 2010.

Mr Tan currently serves as ExxonMobil’s Aviation Field Engineer for Asia Pacific. 
He was previously a Programme Manager in the Defence Science and Technology 
Agency and a Branch Head in the Ministry of Defence. He has previously 
represented MINDS in the Boards of Special Olympics and Singapore Disability 
Sports Council. He also served in the West Coast Community Centre Management 
Committee and as the President of the Raleigh Society.

Mr Gary Ng was elected to MINDS Exco as a member on 19 September 2015. 
He has served as an Exco member in MINDS since 2011. 

Mr Ng is the Sole Proprietor of Datalink Networking Systems, a company dealing 
with system integration on IT solutions. Having started the business in 2000 
providing network solutions, it has since grown to include security and cloud 
solutions.

With a child with special needs, Mr Gary Ng understands the importance of 
raising awareness for them and has been involved in the MINDS’ then Caregivers 
Support Group. Mr Ng also provides his IT expertise to other organisations such 
as Clarity Singapore Ltd, Life Community Service Society, Lutheran Community 
Care Service Ltd.

Ms Tan Li San was elected as a Board member of MINDS since September 
2015. She is also the Vice-Chairman of MINDS’ Social Enterprise & Employment 
Development Committee.

Ms Tan currently holds the position of Deputy Secretary (Industry and Information) 
at the Ministry of Communications and Information (MCI). In this role, she oversees 
MCI’s industry development and information policy portfolios, as well as its corporate 
functions including strategic planning and corporate development, among others. 
Ms Tan has previously worked for the Ministry of Manpower, Infocomm Development 
Authority of Singapore, Ministry of the Environment and Water Resources, Ministry 
of Finance, Public Service Division, and the Civil Service College. Ms Tan currently 
sits on the Board of Directors of the National Arts Council, the Agency for Science, 
Technology and Research, Design Singapore Council, IDA International Board as 
well as Beyond Social Services.
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Mr Manojit Sen / Member

Mr Geoffrey Ong / Co-opted Member / 
Honorary Internal Auditor

Mr Eugene Nai / Co-opted Member

Mr Manojit Sen has served as a member on MINDS Exco since 2010. He currently 
chairs the Human Resource Sub-committee and the Allied Health Professional 
Services Committee. 

Mr Sen has 20 years of experience in Human Resource across Fast-moving 
Consumer Goods and the Energy industries. He has been through a number 
of local, regional and global roles and led diverse teams in Asia, Europe and 
Americas. He currently heads the Human Resource for Royal Dutch Shell’s 
Lubricant business across Asia-Pacific. 

Besides MINDS, he also serves on the Board of Butterflies India. 

Mrs Mimi Tan / Co-opted Member

Mrs Mimi Tan has served as a co-opted member on MINDS Exco since 2009. 
She was previously appointed as the Chairwoman of the Caregivers Support 
Committee from 2009 to 2011. Mrs Tan serves as a sub-committee member for 
the Residential & Community-Based Care Services (RCCS) and Volunteer & Donor 
Management (VDM) Committees at MINDS. She is currently also serving on the 
board of Singapore Special Olympics and Singapore Disability Sports Council as 
MINDS’ representative. She is the Assistant General Manager of NG Teow Yhee & 
Sons (S) Pte Ltd.

Mr Geoffrey Ong joined the MINDS Exco in January 2014 and was appointed
Chairman, Audit Committee.

Before joining the Exco, Mr Ong served in the Finance and Investment Committee
from Oct 2011 to Jan 2014. Mr Ong is currently Deputy Head of Information 
Retention, Risk & Controls, ITO in Standard Chartered Bank (SCB). Prior to joining 
SCB, Mr Ong held various positions such as Vice President of Finance in Deutsche 
Bank, DBS Bank and CFO of IBM Vietnam.

Mr Eugene Nai has served as a co-opted member on MINDS Exco since 2015 
Currently, Mr Nai is a legal counsel in APL Logistics, an international logistics 
service provider. Prior to this role, Mr Nai had served in the Attorney General's 
Chambers as a deputy public prosecutor. In private practice, Mr Nai trained and 
subsequently practised shipping law in a top Singapore firm. Thereafter, 
he practised general law in the chambers of a senior counsel. Since 2010, 
he has also been teaching negotiation to students of the bar exam at the Singapore 
Institute of Legal Education. 

Besides MINDS, Mr Nai is also currently serving as the chairman at MINDS MYG, 
the volunteering arm of MINDS. Prior to assuming the chairmanship of MINDS 
MYG, he was the chairperson of a project within MINDS MYG - Basic Knowledge 
Training Group from 2009 - 2011. 
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Patron of MINDS

Dr Cheong Choong Kong

Advisor of MINDS 

Dr S Vasoo
Prof Tan Ser Kiat
Mrs Jaya Mohideen 

Executive Board 2015 – 2017

The following Executive Committee was elected at the AGM on Saturday, 19 September 2015: 

President     Mr Jeffrey Tan Fook Cheong

Vice Presidents   Mr Robin Chua Choon Howe

        Mr Huang Cheng Eng

Honorary Secretary   Mrs Doreen Yap Swee Keong

Honorary Assistant Secretary  Mr Mike Lee Chiang Hai

Honorary Treasurer  Ms Jamie Lau Lee Hua

Honorary Assistant Treasurer  Mr David Loh Boon Leng 

Elected Members  Capt Roger Loh Chin Chan 

        Mr Manojit Sen

        Mr Gary Ng Kim Yan 

        Mr Ong Wee Gee

        Ms Tan Li San 

        Mr Daniel Tan Tai Leng

Co-Opted Members   Mr Geoffrey Ong Boon Tiong

        Mr Eugene Nai Ziping

        Mrs Mimi Tan Sze Sze

principal
officers



annual report 2015/2016 Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore 07

MINDS
sub-committees
School Management (SM) Committee

Chairman     Mr Robin Chua Choon Howe 

Supervisor     Mr Jeffrey Tan Fook Cheong 

Treasurer     Mr Chng Jong Ling

Secretary     Mrs Chan Kwai Foong / Mr Lawrence Chong Kwai Kuen 

Sub-Committee Members  Dr Bhavani Sririam

        Dr Mary George

        Ms Sue-Ann Phay

        Mr Boo Chong Han 

MOE Representative  Ms Chong Suet Fong

CEO       Mr Keh Eng Song 

Principal, FGS   Mrs Chan Kwai Foong

Principal, LGS   Ms Suzana Bte Soo

Principal, TGS   Ms Cindy Lim Siew Cheng

Principal, WGS   Mr Lawrence Chong Kwai Kuen 

Social Enterprise & Employment Development (SEED) Committee

Chairman      Mr Huang Cheng Eng

Vice Chairman   Ms Tan Li San 

Secretary     Mr Cedric Chew Kok Leong

Sub-Committee Members  Mr Robin Chua Choon Howe

        Ms Jackie Seah

        Mr Wong Marn Chee

Residential & Community-Based Care Services (RCCS) Committee

Chairman     Capt Roger Loh Chin Chan 

Vice Chairman   Mr Huang Cheng Eng

Secretary     Mr Ling Chong Beng

Sub-Committee Members  Mrs Mimi Tan Sze Sze

        Mr Mike Lee Chiang Hai

        Mr Yap Soon Kiang

Finance & Investment (FI) Committee
Chairman     Mr Ong Wee Gee

Vice Chairman   Mr Hooi Mun Hon

Secretary      Mrs Winnie Tee

Sub-Committee Members  Ms Jamie Lau Lee Hua

        Mr Chng Jong Ling

        Mr David Loh
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Human Resource (HR) Committee

Chairman       Mr Manojit Sen 
Vice Chairman     Mrs Doreen Yap Swee Keong
Secretary        Mr Chen Ching Chion
Sub-Committee Member    Mr Mohan Dass

Remuneration (RM) Committee

Chairman      Mr Jeffrey Tan Fook Cheong
Sub-Committee Members   Mr Robin Chua Choon Howe
         Mr Huang Cheng Eng
         Mrs Doreen Yap Swee Keong 
         Mr Manojit Sen

Allied Health Professional Services (AHPS) Committee

Chairman      Mr Manojit Sen
Vice Chairman    Mr Mike Lee Chiang Hai 
Secretary       Dr Hoili Lim 
Sub-Committee Members   Dr Wong Mei Yin
         Mr Frederick Low
         Mr J R Karthikeyan
         Dr Chua Hong Choon 

Volunteer & Donor Management (VDM) Committee

Chairman      Mrs Doreen Yap Swee Keong
Vice Chairman     Mr Boo Chong Han
Secretary      Ms Siah Peiling
Sub-Committee Members   Mr Lee Theng Ngee
         Mr Eugene Nai
         Ms Wee Jieyin
         Mrs Mimi Tan Sze Sze

Caregivers Support (CS) Committee

Chairman       Mr Mike Lee Chiang Hai
Vice Chairman    Mrs Doreen Yap Swee Keong
Secretary       Ms Chia Poh Hong
Sub-Committee Members   Ms Amelia Tan
         Mr William Teo
         Mr Tan Moon Chong
         Ms Nimisha Kesariuwani 

Audit (AC) Committee

Chairman      Mr Geoffrey Ong
Vice Chairman    Mr Daniel Tan Tai Leng
Secretary       Mr Boey Khing How
Sub-Committee Member   Ms Siti Nuriyah Binte Abdul Manaf
         Mr David Kwok (Date of appointment: 12 January 2016)

MINDS
sub-committees
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management
team
Chief Executive Officer   Mr Keh Eng Song (Appointed on 2 April 2007)

Deputy Chief Executive Officer   Dr. Jeffrey Chan (Appointed on 21 March 2016)

Director, Residential & Community-Based  Ms Koh Gee May

Care Services      

Director, Allied Health Professional Services Dr Hoili Lim 

Director, Social Enterprise and    Jeff Kwan Wan Chew 
Employment Development   

Director, Corporate Development & Outreach  Mr Kevin Chew (until June 2016)

Director, Finance   Mrs Winnie Tee

Director, Human Resource and Admin   Mr Chen Ching Chion

Consultant, Caregivers Support Services  Ms Chia Poh Hong 

From left to right: Ms Chia Poh Hong, Dr. Jeffrey Chan, Mr Chen Ching Chion, Mr Keh Eng Song, Mr Jeff Kwan, Ms Koh Gee May, 
Dr. Hoili Lim, Mrs Winnie Tee
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president’s
review

Last year, MINDS Perform had the rare opportunity of performing 
at the opening and closing ceremony of the 8th ASEAN Para 
Games with more than 6,000 people in attendance.

The year 2015 saw the celebration of Singapore’s 50th 
birthday – how our past efforts culminated in present 
achievements, paving the way to new and exciting 
endeavours for our future generation. We at MINDS have 
come a long way too. From a classroom of 26 children in 
1962, MINDS has grown to provide a continuum of services 
that serves more than 2,300 persons with intellectual 
disability (PWIDs) in Singapore. 

Our commitment to empowering their lives underlies our 
drive to go beyond simply serving the needs of our clients. 
We strive to harness their core competencies and enable 
opportunities for them to brave new frontiers. Many a time, 
these new frontiers may seem precarious, yet they often 
yield encouraging results which pushes us to recognise the 
amazing efforts and resolve of our clients, caregivers, staff, 
volunteers and partners. 

I am heartened that several professional initiatives have 
borne fruit; empowering our clients in more ways than one. 
Since embarking on the School-To-Work (S2W) Transition 
Programme piloted more than a year ago, nine of our 

graduands at MINDS – Woodlands Gardens School are 
currently undergoing further training with SG Enable. 
MINDS – Towner Gardens School and MINDS – Fernvale 
Gardens School had each opened a community garden and 
brought teaching beyond the confines of a classroom. 
I am also pleased to note that our students at MINDS – 
Lee Kong Chian Gardens School have been exemplary 
at learning to “give back” to the community. They had 
performed a classic Chinese Opera performance for the 
residents at St. Theresa’s Home.

Regarding employment, the challenge in sourcing for 
contract work continues and it is incumbent for us to 
traverse new paths and find more employment opportunities 
for our clients. This brings us to our latest endeavour – 
MINDS Water, our latest social enterprise project supplying 
bottled water to offices, board rooms, hotels, exhibitions, 
sports events and other special events at competitive prices. 
Our clients are gainfully employed and engaged by sticking 
different labels on the caps of bottled water and packing 
them in bulk for purchase. It may seem elementary yet the 
work engages a larger group of clients including those with 
higher support needs meaningfully. 

“We strive to harness 
their core competencies 
and enable 
opportunities for them 
to brave new frontiers.”
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I am also pleased that our other social enterprises have 
performed remarkably well. Last year, MINDS Perform 
had the rare opportunity of performing at the opening and 
closing ceremony of the 8th ASEAN Para Games with more 
than 6,000 people in attendance. MINDS Bakers also saw 
record-breaking sales where they produced more than 6,900 
jars of cookies in a single order! 

To care for our clients holistically, we have to address their 
physical, psychological, social and environmental needs. 
To that end, the Training & Development Centres (TDCs) 
have adopted the “Participative in the Community” 
curriculum framework, which provides a more systematic 
and holistic approach in addressing these needs. For 
Home-Based Care Services (HBCS) clients and socially 
isolated persons with intellectual disability, MINDS pioneered 
a befriending programme - MINDS Me Too! Club. The club 
has opened new opportunities for our clients to interact with 
volunteers on recreational activities.

Besides opening our sixth TDC, MINDS - Jurong Training 
& Development Centre in the third quarter of 2016, 
two new TDCs located in Clementi and Yishun, are also 
in the pipeline. One of the TDCs will cater specifically for 
clients with Autism Spectrum Disorder. This will help ease 
the waitlist of graduands who are waiting for a placement 
in our centres, which are reaching a bottleneck in the North 
area as well. 

Our Allied Health Professionals have consistently advanced 
their skills in relevant interventions such as “Signposts for 
Building Better Behaviours” and “Key Word Sign as an 
Augmentative and Alternative Communication” to better care 
for our clients. Key Word Sign (KWS) is slowly incorporated 
as one of the key communication tools used in MINDS. 
In its second year of the initiative, a series of workshops 
were conducted for MINDS staff and caregivers. Through 
a collaboration with Republic Polytechnic, the KWS 
committee has developed a “Speech Text-to-Sign” App that 
provides a repository of videos of the different key word 
signs. With this app, caregivers will be able to learn them 
anytime, anywhere even when they are on the go. 

Since the opening of our Caregivers’ Support Services 
Centre (CSSC) in 2015, MINDS has organised more than 
50 training workshops and bonding activities for the 
caregivers, reaching out close to 700 caregivers and family 
members. These training workshops helped equip the 
caregiver leaders and assistant leaders with skills to reach 
out and work with other caregivers so as to achieve goals 
collectively and effectively. Apart from this, I am pleased to 
note that the CSSC had also conducted Mental Capacity Act 
workshops, sharing about a simpler and more economical 

way for caregivers to apply for Deputyship. This enabled 
caregivers to seek key decision-making powers for their 
grown-up children at a more affordable cost. 

Beyond providing the range of services for PWIDs, we are 
at the forefront for advocating their interests and call of 
integrating them into society. Last year, we held more than 
30 public education events to raise awareness about PWIDs 
and MINDS. Amid the various calls for action on many 
fronts, we believed that our outreach efforts will add our 
voice to the growing call on inclusiveness in Singapore. 

Inclusiveness in Singapore hinges greatly on community 
support. In one of our engagement activities with the 
community during World Down Syndrome Day, we saw how 
the community supported our clients as they re-acquainted 
with the new walking route around Margaret Drive. It was a 
testament to how we ordinary people can help others who 
are in a different capacity to achieve extraordinary things. 

As Henry Ford famously says, “Coming together is a 
beginning. Keeping together is progress. Working together 
is success.” We have come this far in our journey in shaping 
a promising future for the PWIDs. We may grapple with 
numerous challenges but we remain undaunted. We may 
not realise our dreams today but let us all keep together 
and continue to advocate the interest of PWIDs. Let us all 
continue to empower them, so that one day, we will enable 
a wealth of possibilities for them to soar to greater heights. 

 
Jeffrey Tan
President of MINDS
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corporate
governance
Introduction
MINDS is led by a team of independent Executive 
Committee (Exco) members who are volunteers, headed by 
the President, with diversified experiences across various 
public and private sectors. No staff sits on the Exco; Senior 
Management attends Exco meetings as ex-officio. 
The Committee met once every month (except for December 
2015 and February 2016) to keep itself abreast of MINDS’ 
activities, development and to approve projects. 
The authorities, duties and responsibilities of Exco are guided 
by MINDS Constitution and the Terms of Reference. 
MINDS has an induction and training policy for new Exco 
members whereby the members will be issued with a Board 
kit and given a briefing by Senior Management on MINDS’ 
mission, vision, strategy and operation. 

The Exco is supported by 10 sub-committees overseeing 
key areas within MINDS, which are guided by their respective 
terms of reference approved by the Exco:

i)  School Management Committee (SMC)

ii)  Social Enterprise & Employment Development 
Committee (SEED)

iii)  Residential & Community-Based Care Services 
Committee (RCCS)

iv)  Finance & Investment Committee (FIC)

v)  Human Resource Committee (HRC)

vi)  Remuneration Committee (RC)

vii)  Allied Health Professional Services Committee (AHPS)

viii) Volunteer & Donor Management Committee (VDMC)

ix)  Caregivers Support Committee (CSC)

x)  Audit Committee (AC)

Accountability and Audit
Management provides Exco with treasury reports on 
a monthly basis to enable the Exco to make a balanced 
and informed assessment of MINDS’ performance, 
position and prospects.

Exco is responsible for the appointment of external auditor at 
MINDS’ AGM. AC works closely with the FIC to supervise the 
annual statutory audit of MINDS and assesses the external 
auditors based on quality of audit performed and their 
independence. Recommendation would then be made to 
Exco to appoint the external auditors. 

AC also oversees internal controls and the results of internal 
audit (IA) work on behalf of the Exco with the support of an IA 
department. Recognising the importance of internal controls, 
Exco approved the expansion of the IA department in this 
financial year, in line with the increase in MINDS’ programmes 
and services. The IA workplan is approved annually by AC. 
The workplan is formulated using a risk-based approach. 
The IA department works closely with Management in its 
internal consulting and advisory role to promote effective 
risk management, internal controls and governance best 
practices. Starting this financial year, AC held private 
discussion with IA department at least once a year, without 
the presence of Management, to discuss any sensitive issues 
arising from IA work.

Whistleblowing Policy
MINDS has a whistleblowing policy for internal staff and 
external stakeholders to highlight their concerns in relation to 
all forms of unlawful conduct, financial malpractice, danger 
to the public, etc. An email and contact number is made 
available in MINDS corporate website.

Conflict of Interest
The Exco adopted the policy of declaration by the Exco 
members and senior management staff of any personal 
interests that may affect the integrity, fairness and 
accountability to MINDS. When a conflict of interest situation 
arises, the member or staff shall abstain from participating 
in the discussion, decision making and voting on the matter. 
Exco and Senior Management signed a declaration to 
acknowledge the conflict of interest policy.

Transparency
MINDS uploads its Governance Evaluation Checklist from the 
Code of Governance for Charities and Institutions of a Public 
Character, a yearly summary of its financial information and 
copies of annual reports in the Charity Portal and on MINDS’ 
website for access by the public.

Financial and Budgeting
Budgeting exercise for each department/centre/school is 
conducted before the beginning of the financial year and 
approved by Exco. Monthly financial report is generated by 
Finance Department and circulated to all HODs/Directors 
to monitor their actual spending against budget. Quarterly 
budget reviews are conducted to explain any variance. 
Financial results are also reported to Exco. MINDS has a 
proper chart of authority, approved by Exco, for seeking 
approval for procurement and payment.

Remuneration Policies
All members of the Exco are volunteers and do not receive 
any remuneration during the year. To avoid potential conflict 
of interest when determining the remunerations of key 
management staff within MINDS, there is a formal and 
transparent procedure for determining key management 
personnel’s remuneration by the Remuneration Committee 
(RC). No Director is involved in deciding his/her own 
remuneration. All members of the RC are non-executive 
directors. 

Other practices
MINDS does not provide any loan to staff or external party.  
It also does not make any cash donations to external party.
  



annual report 2015/2016 Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore 13

governance evaluation checklist for
advanced tier Applicable to large IPCs with gross annual receipts of $10 million or more

S/N Code Description Code ID Compliance Please provide explanation if your charity is unable 
to comply with the Code guidelines, or if the 
guidelines are non-applicable.

BOARD GOVERNANCE

1 Are there Board members 
holding staff appointments? 
Remarks: (Skip questions 2 
and 3 if “No”)

A No Neither are there staff holding Board appointments.

4 There is a maximum term 
limit of four consecutive 
years for the Treasurer 
position (or equivalent, 
eg Finance Committee 
Chairman).

1.1.6 Complied MINDS' Constitution states that the Honorary Treasurer 
shall serve not more than two consecutive terms 
(or a maximum of four consecutive years). Further  
re-appointment to the Honorary Treasurer position shall 
be allowed after a lapse of at least one financial year. 

We are in the process to amend the Constitution to 
limit the term of the President to three consecutive 
terms (or a maximum of six consecutive years) and 
allowing re-election after a lapse of at least one term. 

We are also intending to limit the term of all other 
Board Members to five consecutive terms 
(or a maximum of ten consecutive years) and 
allowing re-election after a lapse of at least one term.

5 The Board conducts 
regular self-evaluation to 
assess its performance and 
effectiveness.

1.1.10 Complied MINDS’ Board undertakes periodic self-evaluation 
on its effectiveness. Two self-evaluations have been 
conducted so far; one in early 2009, and again in late 
2011 using the Online Board Assessment Surveys 
(OBAS) previously administered by NCSS. 
The current Board only took office from Sep/Oct 
2013 and members need time to settle into their roles. 
Another evaluation in 2016 is being planned.

6 There are Board committees 
(or designated Board 
members) with documented 
terms of reference.

1.2.1 Complied MINDS has 10 sub-committees, each with its Terms of 
Reference approved by the Board.

Each sub-committee comprises at least 2 elected/
co-opted Board members. Other members of the  
sub-committee have to be approved by the Board.

7 The Board meets regularly 
with a quorum of at least 
one-third or at least three 
members, whichever is 
greater (or as required by 
the governing instrument).

1.3.1 Complied Although MINDS’ Constitution stipulates Board 
Meetings to be held at least once every 2 months, 
the Board meets every month when possible, except 
for December.

According to the Constitution, five members shall form 
a quorum, one of whom shall be the President, 
Vice-President or Honorary Secretary.
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S/N Code Description Code ID Compliance Please provide explanation if your charity is unable 
to comply with the Code guidelines, or if the 
guidelines are non-applicable.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

8 There are documented 
procedures for Board 
members and staff to 
declare actual or potential 
conflicts of interest to 
the Board.

2.1 Complied Board members and senior management staff are 
required to declare potential conflicts of interest 
annually in the Conflict of Interest Declaration Form. 
They shall abstain from participating in the discussion, 
decision making and voting on the matter.

Other staff are required to declare conflict of interest 
when the situation arises, as required in their terms 
and conditions of employment.

9 Board members do not vote 
or participate in decision-
making on matters where 
they have a conflict of 
interest.

2.4 Complied All Board members are prohibited from any business 
dealings and contracts with MINDS.

A Board member with a declared conflict of interest is 
not allowed to vote or participate in decision making 
on the matter.

STRATEGIC PLANNING

10 The Board reviews and 
approves the vision and 
mission of the charity. 
They are documented 
and communicated to its 
members and the public.

3.1.1 Complied The review is carried out periodically. The vision 
and mission are published in MINDS’ website 
(http://www.minds.org.sg) as well as in the 
Annual Report.

11 The Board approves and 
reviews a strategic plan for 
the charity to ensure that the 
activities are in line with its 
objectives.

3.2.2 Complied Strategic directions/plan are proposed by management 
and endorsed by the Board.

governance evaluation checklist for 
advanced tier Applicable to large IPCs with gross annual receipts of $10 million or more
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S/N Code Description Code ID Compliance Please provide explanation if your charity is unable 
to comply with the Code guidelines, or if the 
guidelines are non-applicable.

HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

12 The Board approves 
documented human 
resource policies for staff.

5.1 Complied HR policies for staff are proposed by management, 
reviewed and endorsed by the HR Committee and 
approved by the Board.

Once approved, briefings are conducted for all Heads 
of Department during quarterly meetings before 
effecting the policies.

13 There are systems for 
regular supervision, 
appraisal and professional 
development of staff.

5.6 Complied Annual appraisal and training road maps and plans are 
in place for all staff.

Open appraisals are carried out at the end of each year 
where staff performance will be discussed and graded. 
Each staff also has a budget of 40 training hours 
per year. MINDS encourages its staff to attend both 
inhouse and external training. It utilizes an e-system to 
track staff training hours.

14 There is a system to address 
grievances and resolve 
conflicts.

5.11 Complied Staff Grievance Procedure is documented within the 
Collective Agreement with the Union.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND CONTROLS

15 The Board ensures internal 
control systems for financial 
matters are in place with 
documented procedures.

6.1.2 Complied Documented policies and procedures such as 
authorization limits, procurement, payment, etc, 
are endorsed by the Finance and Investment 
Committee and approved by the Board.

Once approved, briefings are conducted for all Heads 
of Department during quarterly meetings before 
effecting the policies. The policies and procedures 
are also uploaded into MINDS Intranet for reference 
by staff.

16 The Board ensures reviews 
on the charity’s controls, 
processes, key programmes 
and events.

6.1.3 Complied The reviews are carried out by the various  
sub-committees of the Board, such as the Sector 
Committees, Finance and Investment Committee,  
HR Committee, and reported to the Board.

In addition, compliance is ensured by the Audit 
Committee which is supported by two Internal Auditors 
reporting to the Audit Committee.
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S/N Code Description Code ID Compliance Please provide explanation if your charity is unable 
to comply with the Code guidelines, or if the 
guidelines are non-applicable.

17 The Board approves an 
annual budget for the 
charity’s plans and regularly 
monitors its expenditure.

6.2.1 Complied The Sector Committees are responsible for reviewing, 
endorsing and monitoring the annual budget.

The annual budget is then further reviewed by the 
Finance and Investment Committee and approved by 
the Board.

Quarterly budget reviews are conducted for both the 
schools and the adult sector.

18 The charity discloses its 
reserves policy in the annual 
report.

6.4.1 Complied Reserves policy is disclosed in MINDS’ Annual Report.

19 Does the charity invest its 
reserves? Remarks: (Skip 
question 20 if “No”)

B Yes

20 The charity invests its 
reserves in accordance 
with an investment policy 
approved by the Board. 
It obtains advice from 
qualified professional 
advisors, if deemed 
necessary by the Board.

6.4.4 Complied Reserves are invested in bonds and FDs according to 
Board-approved Investment Policy. A quorum of 
3 out of 5 members of FIC will approve investments in 
permitted types of S$ denominated assets, including 
S’pore Govt securities, S’pore Govt related entities 
bonds, and approved corporate bonds in S’pore. 
FDs are allowed only for Qualifying Full Banks licensed 
by MAS. It also limits funds concentration in single 
issuer/ corporate and the % of bonds purchased.

FUNDRAISING PRACTICES

21 Donations collected are 
properly recorded and 
promptly deposited by the 
charity.

7.2.2 Complied All donations are acknowledged with a Thank You 
letter, together with a receipt. In addition, donations 
received are reported monthly to the Board.

DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY

22 The charity makes available 
to its stakeholders 
an annual report that 
includes information on 
its programmes, activities, 
audited financial statements, 
Board members and 
executive management.

8.1 Complied An Annual Report, including the audited Financial 
Statements, is published yearly. Other than distributing 
the hard copy, it is also available in MINDS’ website.

governance evaluation checklist for 
advanced tier Applicable to large IPCs with gross annual receipts of $10 million or more
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S/N Code Description Code ID Compliance Please provide explanation if your charity is unable 
to comply with the Code guidelines, or if the 
guidelines are non-applicable.

23 Are Board members 
remunerated for their Board 
services? Remarks: (Skip 
questions 24 and 25 if “No”)

C No No Board member is paid for his/her service.

26 Does the charity employ 
paid staff? Remarks: (Skip 
questions 27 and 28 if “No”)

D Yes

27 No staff is involved in setting 
his or her own remuneration.

2.2 Complied MINDS follows very closely the salary scales provided 
by NCSS. Where deviations are necessary, they are 
reviewed by the HR Committee and endorsed by 
the Board.

Salaries of the CEO and Senior Management are 
reviewed and approved by the Remuneration 
Committee which is chaired by MINDS President with 
members from the Executive Committee.

28 The charity discloses in its 
annual report the annual 
remuneration of its three 
highest paid staff who each 
receives remuneration 
exceeding $100,000. 
If none of its top three 
highest paid staff receives 
more than $100,000 in 
annual remuneration each, 
the charity discloses this 
fact.

8.3 Complied The annual remuneration of the three highest paid 
staff is disclosed in MINDS’ Annual Report in bands 
of $50,000.

PUBLIC IMAGE

29 The charity accurately 
portrays its image to its 
members, donors and 
the public.

9.1 Complied MINDS’ vision, mission, values, programmes and 
activities are contained in the Annual Report which 
is distributed to key stakeholders. In addition, such 
information are also available in MINDS’ website.
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service
map

EMPLOYMENT DEVELOPMENT 
CENTRES (EDC)

18 & above

CAREGIVERS 
SUPPORT SERVICES

RESIDENTIAL 
SERVICES

Home Residents: 115
Hostel/Group Home Residents: 49

Children's Wing Residents: 20

HOME-BASED 
CARE SERVICES

Residents under  
Home-Based Care: 15

OPEN 
EMPLOYMENT

No. of clients in open 
employment: 52

No. of Employment 
Placements for  

FY2015/2016: 99

SOCIAL 
ENTERPRISE

No. of clients in MINDS 
Social Enterprises: 257

SHELTERED 
WORKSHOP

No. of clients in Sheltered 
Workshops: 715

ENCLAVE

No. of clients in Enclave: 39

SPECIAL EDUCATION SCHOOLS 
(SPED)
7 to 18

Total Enrolment: 823

TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT 
CENTRES (TDC)

18 & above
Total number of clients: 310

Full-time: 217
Part-time: 93

Schools & Adult Services



annual report 2015/2016 Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore 19

special education
schools
Introduction
MINDS runs four Special Education (SPED) Schools to cater to the educational needs of children (age 7 to 18) with moderate 
to severe Intellectual Disability (ID). MINDS schools also serve children with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) in addition to 
Intellectual Disability (ID). Our four schools offer three programmes – Junior (7 – 12 years), Senior (13 – 18 years) and Special 
(7 – 18). The programmes cater to their different special learning needs aimed to equip them with functional and academic 
skills to participate as fully as possible in society. 

Student Enrolment As at 1st April 2015

          Lee Kong
         Fernvale Chian Towner Woodlands
         Gardens Gardens Gardens Gardens
School       School School School School Total
         (FGS) (LGS) (TGS) (WGS)

ID         147 179 170 193 689

ASD        32 33 38 31 134

Total         179 212 208 224 823

Key Highlights

Student Achievements 
2015 Graduands’ Employment 
Placements / Work Attachments

School: FGS
Ang Kian Chuan
Tay De Wei
Nature of Employment:
The graduands were attached to the 
general cleaning crew at a flatted 
factory in Frisco Technology & 
Services Pte Ltd. One of the students 
was employed as a housekeeper at 
the flatted factory. 

School: FGS
Class: Senior Class
Nature of Attachment:
19 students learned cleaning skills 
during their four-day work attachment 
with the school’s general workers.

School: LGS 
Nur Azura Binte Abd Mannan
Tan You Qian  
Nature of Employment:
Two graduands have secured an 
internship and were subsequently 
employed at McDonald’s outlets. 

School: LGS
Class: S3A, S4A, S3P, S4P
Nature of Attachment:
Attached to Central Laundry as part of 
their Vocational Attachment training.

School: LGS
Garrick Ngor
Md Syafiq
Mustapa 
Ngu Yu Kang
Md Zahid
Nature of Attachment: 
Selected and placed on work internship 
with Temasek Cares – Equine-Assisted 
Training and Employment (EQUATE).

The EQUATE programme is a pilot 
programme by Equine Federation 
of Singapore (EFS) that provides 
employment for people with  
special needs. 

School: TGS
Muhd Ayman
Jasnam Singh 
Terence Liou 
Nature of Advancement: 
Three graduands are currently 
advancing their education at 
Mountbatten Vocational School.

School: TGS
Lee Wei Xuan Aldric
Goh Guo Dong Samuel
Lim Wei Hong Justin 
Anisa Bte Adam
Muhd Farhan B Mohd Hardi
Muhd Danial Affandy B Md Johari
Ong Lee Hwa
Muhammad Ayman Bin Omar
Nature of Attachment: 
Students participated in work 
experience and attachment 
programmes in Shangri-La Hotel 
Singapore. 

School: TGS
Tan Rui Ray
Mohammad Zailani Bin Abdullah
Muhammad Khairil Hanafi B Md 
Tayeb
Ong Lee Hwa
Muhammad Ayman Bin Omar
Lim Wei Hong Justin 
Anisa Bte Adam
Muhd Danial Affandy B Md Johari
Lim Wei Hong Justin 
Muhd Farhan B Mohd Hardi
Nature of Attachment: 
Students participated in work 
experience and attachment 
programmes in the food & beverage 
industry such as Popeyes Louisiana 
Kitchen, McDonald’s Restaurant and 
Fish & Co Restaurants 

School: WGS
Andy Lau Jia Yong
Muhd Firdaus Bin Kamsani 
Ong Hong Bin
Reyes Katherine Calaminos 
Joselle Joyce Samparada
Syahmi Bin Rahib 
Tay Mei Qing
Valerie Teo Jia Xian 
Evelyn Quek Yong Leng 
Dhia Dhamia Bte Abdul Manaf
Nature of Advancement: 
The graduands who successfully 
placed in the School-To-Work (S2W) 
Transition Programme, are currently 
undergoing further training under 
“Project IN” Programme by  
SG Enable. 
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2015 Sporting Achievements

School: FGS
Muhammad's Afiq Bin Anher 
Muhd Zulhairuddin 
Tay De Wei 
Bryan Ng Jin Ming 
Zainal Abideen B Md Rafi 
Priyaaachi D/O Kandasamy 
Goh Han Tee
Muhammad Shafiq Bin Abdullah 
Achievements: 
Eight FGS students participated in the 
6th National Special Schools Track & 
Field Championships.

School: FGS
Bryan Ng
Achievements: 
Won a Gold medal in the 60m category 
under MINDS division.

School: FGS
Md Shafiq
Achievements: 
Participated in the Institute of 
Singapore Chartered Accountants 
(ISCA) Run on 30 May 2015.

School: FGS
Class: Junior 2A/3A classes
Achievements: 
Participated in Fernvale Primary  
School’s Lower Primary Sports Day on  
1 September 2015.

School: LGS
Lim Thye Ann
Achievements: 
Singapore Disability Sports Council 
(SDSC) National Track & Field 
Competition 2015: 2nd in MINDS 
Novice 60m dash Male Category.

School: LGS
Muhammad Daniel
Achievements: 
SDSC National Track & Field 
Competition 2015: 3rd in MINDS Novice 
60m dash Male Category. 

School: LGS
Nurul Syafiqah
Achievements: 
SDSC National Track & Field 
Competition 2015: 1st in MINDS 
Novice 60m Female Category. 

School: LGS
Nadia Alisha 
Achievements: 
SDSC National Track & Field 
Competition 2015: 2nd position in 
MINDS Novice 60m dash Female 
Category. 

School: LGS
Nur Faranisha
Achievements: 
SDSC National Track & Field 
Competition: 3rd in MINDS Novice  
60m Female Category. 

School: LGS
Yeo Wen Xuan
Bryan Teo Xuan He
Mohamed Aimi Bin Hamini
Glennis Chen Wen Ting
Nurhaslynda
Balqis Khairayu Bte Sami’an 
Eugene, Tan Zunn Hou
Kwek Guo Liang, Jackie
Tay De Sheng, John
Darren Leong Ka Hoe
Lim Thye Ann 
Achievements: 
Participated in the Kent Ridge 
Olympics during Kent Ridge Secondary 
School Annual Sports Day 2015.

 Shaswat Kesarwani was all smiles with 
Joseph Schooling at a swimming clinic.

 Md Shafiq in his marathon gear after the 
ISCA run.

 MINDS WGS student,  
Hope Myatrioe Enir, was hard  
at work transporting "bricks"  
during the Samsui Works's Race.

School: LGS
Mohd Noor Idris
Achievements: 
Represented Special Olympics 
Singapore Team in Bocce at the Special 
Olympics World Summer Games 2015 
held in Los Angeles, USA.

School: TGS
Shaswat Kesarwani
Achievements:
4th in Singapore Press Holdings 
(SPH) National Para Swimming 
Championship.

School: TGS
Jason Gan
Achievements: 
5th in SPH National Para Swimming 
Championship.

School: TGS
Class: Senior Class 
Achievements: 
MINDS Sports Day 2015: 1st in Senior 
4X100m Relay Race. 

School: TGS 
Class: Junior Class
Achievements: 
MINDS Sports Day 2015: 3rd in Junior 
4X100m Relay Race.

School: TGS
Class: Special Class
Senior 1 and Senior 2 classes
Achievements: 
MINDS Sports Day 2015: 1st in  
tele-match. 

School: TGS
Class: Junior 1 and Junior 2 classes
Achievements: 
MINDS Sports Day 2015: 3rd position 
in tele-match. 

special education
schools
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2015 Graduates’ Aesthetics 
Achievements

School: FGS
Unit: Modern Dance Company 
Achievements: 
Performed alongside students from 
Fernvale Primary School during 
Children’s Day at Fernvale  
Primary School. 

School: FGS
Unit: Modern Dance Company 
Achievements: 
Performed at MINDS Combined Schools 
Graduation Ceremony on 14 November 
2015 at the Grassroots Club.

School: LGS
Calynda Li Yingjia
Muhammad Amir Rusyaidi Bin 
Muhammad Faizal
Alfian Ali Bin Akbar Ali
Chen Yung Lok Brendon
Faiza Farvana
Nur Nabilah Binte Muhammad Rizal
Chiang Yu Xuan Scott
Sarah Chong Junan 
Mohamed Aimi Bin Hamini
Bryan Teo Xuan He
Bautro Francis Anthony Pepito
Chua Chee Hon
Muruganantham Atchaya
Leane Paula Jatulan
Achievements: 
Kenneth Lee, a celebrated Singaporean 
artist conducted an interactive art 
session with the students to create 
drawings that reflect their hopes 
and aspirations for the future. These 
drawings were translated into a light 
sculpture by the artist, which was 
displayed at the Promenade of Marina 
Bay Sands in April 2015 during the 
Torch Up! Community Arts Project for 
the 28th SEA Games.

School: LGS
Chong Wee Keong 
Achievements: 
Very Special Arts (VSA) Competition:  
1st Prize in Youth Category. 

School: LGS
Cheong Si En Joash Matthias
Achievements: 
VSA Competition: Merit Prize in  
the Youth Category. 

School: LGS
Edward Toh Jing Kai
Achievements: 
VSA Competition: Merit Prize in  
Child Category. 

School: LGS
Nur Aqilah Bte Suhaimi
Achievements: 
Artwork submitted and printed on 
Singapore Youth Festival (SYF) booklet 
for SYF Art Exhibition 2015. 

School: LGS
Franco Enrique G. Lazaro 
Achievements: 
Artwork submitted and printed on SYF 
booklet for SYF Art Exhibition 2015.

School: LGS
Unit: The Super Trouper Choir
Achievements: 
Performed two songs at the Welcome 
to My World, a concert performed by 
people with disabilities and organised 
by VSA Singapore held at Republic 
Polytechnic Cultural Centre Theatre. 

School: LGS
Unit: The Super Trouper Choir
Achievements: 
Performed two songs at the “Best 
of You” event, a social movement by 
biscuit manufacturer Julie’s featuring 
everyday heroes in a public exhibition 
held at the central atrium of  
Marina Square.

 Chong Wee Keong, 1st in 
VSA Youth Category.

School: LGS
Unit: The Super Trouper Choir
Achievements: 
Performed three songs at the Purple 
Parade held at Hong Lim Park. The 
Purple Parade is a movement that 
supports inclusion and celebrates the 
abilities of people with special needs.

School: TGS
Unit: TGS Art & Craft Club
Achievements: 
Four artworks were selected for the 
13th VSA Competition and Exhibition 
under the Commendable Category.

School: TGS
Unit: Kool Kidz 
Achievements: 
Performed at the Community Chest 
SG50 Care and Share Day 2015 held  
at the Singapore Sports Hub.

School: TGS
Unit: Kool Kidz 
Achievements: 
Performed at National University of 
Singapore Students’ Union (NUSSU) 
Rag and Flag Day 2015.

School: TGS
Unit: Kool Kidz 
Achievements: 
Performed at the Opening Ceremony of 
Eunos Training & Development Centre. 

School: WGS
Unit: WGS Art Club
Achievements: 
Students’ artworks were showcased 
in Woodlands Regional Library at the 
Children’s Section from 1 September to 
31 December 2015. 

 Cheong Si En Joash 
Matthias, Merit Prize in VSA 
Youth Category.

 LGS’ Super Trouper gave 
a stirring rendition during 
“Best of You” event. 

 FGS’ Modern Dance Company 
delivered a spectacular 
performance during MINDS 
Combined Schools Graduation 
Ceremony. 
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2015 Professional Achievements
Environmental Awards 
FGS was awarded the Most Holistic Award and Gold Award 
in the Singapore Environment Council (SEC) – 3R (Reuse, 
Reduce, Recycle) Awards.

FGS was also awarded the Lotus Award while TGS received 
the Hibiscus Award and Gold Award in the SEC – School 
Green Awards. WGS took home the Green Award for their 
successful implementation of hydroponic programme, green 
planting and promoting recycling efforts in Singapore. 
LGS received the Lotus Sustained Achievement Award in the 
SEC – School Green Awards. This award is given to schools 
who have received the Lotus Award three times in a row.

For the second year in a row, LGS received the Green Carpet 
Merit Award given by National Geographic Explorer and 
National Parks Board.

In the “Community in Bloom” project organised by National 
Parks Board, LGS won the “most Eco-friendly Award” with 
a design plot they have created together with other 
Community in Bloom Ambassadors, known as “Block 50.”

FGS designed and built a unique lantern made of used 
plastic bottles used for the launch of the Eco-Lantern 
Competition at the Sec Coca-Cola® Eco Autumn Festival. 

Friend of Singa Award
Students from WGS received the Friend of Singa Trophy from 
Singapore Kindness Movement. Six LGS students were also 
selected to be Kindness Ambassadors in the school. 

Frank Cooper Sands Gold Award
The Frank Cooper Sands Award is an annual award in honour 
of the Father of Scouting to sectional scout units based on 
the Unit progress and achievement. MINDS schools have 
achieved the following awards:
FGS :  Silver Award
LGS :  Gold Award 
TGS :  Gold Award 
WGS :  Gold Award

2015 Staff Achievements

received Long Service Awards for their work with Scouts. 
Guo Yan Yan and Tan Guat Buay from FGS both received the 
5 Years’ Long Service Award for their work with Girl Guides.

The following staffs received MINDS Long Service Award for 
their dedication towards MINDS students:

5 Years MINDS Long Service Award: 
Krishnasamy Sivakumar

10 Years MINDS Long Service Award:
Aminah Binte Ahmad 

15 Years MINDS Long Service Award:
Rebekah Lim Ying Ying, Teo Geok Peng Wendy,  
Soh Siew Hwa Evelyn, Lai Yan Chi Sherlyn

20 Years MINDS Long Service Award:
Chan Yee San Audrey, Shireen Bte Osman

25 Years MINDS Long Service Award
Salha Bte Soo

Singapore Hokkien Huay Kuan 
The Listening Educator for Advancement and Progress 
(LEAP) Award was awarded to Ms Sukvinder Kaur from TGS 
for making a positive impact in nurturing the students. 

The award recognises exceptional teachers who have made a 
positive impact in nurturing their students. The award is open 
to all educators both in mainstream and special schools.

Professional Initiatives

 HACCIMO Challenge 2015.

 Mrs Madeline Aw from TGS receiving the Frank Cooper Sands 
Award from Singapore Scout Association. 

Long Service Award
Mr Alvin Yeo from FGS received the 5 years’ Long Service 
Award for his work with Scouts. Mr Awmawati Saimon,  
Mr Phoon Ngai Seng and Ms Santha Raman from WGS too 

HACCIMO Challenge 2015
LGS organised its annual Harmony Among Communities 
Chinese, Indian, Malay and Others (HACCIMO) Challenge in 
conjunction with the Harmony Race and Harmony Challenge 
at Little India with Kent Ridge Secondary School. A total 
of 425 students, family members, community partners and 
invited guests participated in this event.

LGS had also set a new record in the Singapore Book of 
Records for making the most numbers of (5,760) paper 
flowers in an hour. 

special education
schools
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Chinese Opera – Art with a Heart 
15 students from LGS put together a Chinese Opera 
performance alongside volunteers from Moulmein Community 
Centre (CC) at the St. Theresa’s Home. Titled “Madame White 
Snake,” the opera depicted a tragic love story between a 
mortal and a snake spirit. The play was one of the four great 
folktales from china. 

Fernvale Games Day 
FGS held its inaugural Games Day at Fernvale Primary 
School on 21 October 2015. This was supported by Jurong 
Town Corporation. The students from both schools worked 
together to complete the games and were awarded with 
trophies at the end of the event.

 Awaiting caption.

SEA Games – Extraordinary Run
Mohamed Aimi and Cheng Chang Jing, students of LGS 
participated in the SEA Games – Torch Up! Extraordinary 
Run, a mass run that provided locals an opportunity to be 
part of the SEA Games’ torch relay. They completed the last 
1.3km run alongside 50 other runners from the community 
and covered a distance of 14km. The run concluded at the 
Promontory, Marina Bay. 

FGS Scouts’ Job Week
The Scouts were invited to the Istana to polish silverware as 
part of the launch of the Scouts’ Job Week. They also had 
the opportunity to interact with President Tony Tan.

Sensory Garden@ Towner
In celebration of SG50, the school embarked on the creation 
of the sensory garden – a garden where plants were divided 
into different sections related to the five different senses. 
It serves to enhance the students’ sensory, learning in the 
Science subject and appreciation of nature. The students 
also get to work in the garden once weekly. 
 

Fernvale Farmland
FGS launched the Fernvale Farmland on 4 July 2015 together 
with Dr Lam Pin Min, Minister of State for Health and 
Member of Parliament for Sengkang West GRC as the Guest 
of Honour. With the instalment of the garden, FGS will be 
introducing a garden-based learning approach as part of its 
curriculum where students will be given opportunities to tend 
to the community garden, developing patience, resilience, 
responsibility and respect for nature and the environment. 
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Speech Takes Flight –  
Oral Presentation Programme 
The Speech Takes Flight is an oral presentation programme 
that aims to equip students with the essential communication 
and oral presentation skills. Since the inception of the 
programme in 2014, the students have become more 
expressive and spontaneous where they make their 
presentations on stage in various formats such as using Key 
Word Sign. The programme has also provided a platform for 
the training of student emcees in which they hosted several 
major school events with some becoming valedictorians at 
the MINDS Schools Graduation Ceremony.

Weekend Learning through iPad  
Loan Scheme
TGS students benefited from the iPad Home Loan Scheme 
in which they used the iPads to practise on educational apps 
such as Bitsboard at home. 

National Paddlers Visit WGS 
The National Paddlers together with Ms Ellen Lee,  
Member of Parliament for Sembawang (Woodlands) GRC and 
Singapore Table Tennis Association President visited WGS 
on 23 April 2015. The students had the opportunity to play 
table tennis and other games competing with one another 
alongside the national paddlers. 

MOE Study Tour 
Mr Yang Suk Hwa participated in an MOE study tour to 
Japan, Nagoya in June 2015, embarking on a learning 
journey about Lesson Study. WGS is in the implementation 
stage to use Lesson Study as a professional learning 
community practice by starting small with the senior level 
vocational team.

Math Through Play Programme
TGS introduced a new programme called the “Math Through 
Play” to expose students to various mathematical concepts 
like Time-telling and Money. Through this programme, students 
gained a better understanding of concepts and learned to 
apply the concepts through various games and activities. 

special education
schools



annual report 2015/2016 Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore 25

Introduction 
The Social Enterprise & Employment Development (SEED) 
team at MINDS provides care, training and employment 
opportunities for our clients. Clients under our care in MINDS 
Employment Development Centres (EDCs) are placed in 
various training and engagement activities, either in MINDS 
Social Enterprise or contract work within our EDCs or in 
enclaves located outside. We aim to prepare and empower 
our clients to move from sheltered employment to supported 
employment and ultimately, open employment. 

The year 2015 continues to be a challenging year for SEED 
due to structural shifts in the economy and decreasing 
contract work opportunities. However, MINDS SE strives  
to rise to the challenge by harnessing their vocational skills 
to develop in-house enterprises and create sustainable  
work opportunities. 

MINDS is cautiously developing large scale social enterprises 
that require larger number of clients and simpler tasks, 
such as MINDS Water so that a broader range of clients 
can benefit from the engagements created. 

Enrolment 
(Clients Enrolment and Staff Strength as at 31 March 2016)

CENTRE      Client  Staff

Idea Employment
Development Centre (IEDC)  299 44

SIA-MINDS Employment 
Development Centre (SMEDC)  388 52

Woodlands Employment 
Development Centre (WEDC) 332 47

Total        1,019 143

Key Highlights 
SEED developed a strategic move to explore and develop 
projects that have the potential for large scale employment 
and yet simple enough to engage trainees with higher 
support needs. SEED continues to work towards trainees’ 
development by empowering them with relevant training so 
as to maximize their social and vocational competencies. 
Likewise, SEED also looks into developing staff through 
effective training and courses that help them acquire new 
and relevant skills. 

MINDS also started to do an evaluation of the vocational skills 
of clients. A Vocational Profiling Checklist tool was tested by 
the Occupational Therapists to profile the vocational skills that 
each EDC client possesses. The first phase was implemented 
in 2015 on all EDC clients. 

SIA Coffee Pod Packing 
During the year, a two year contract was secured from SIA 
to pack individual coffee pods into handy packs for use on 
board flights in its first and business class sections. Trainees, 
including those with higher support needs, began training in 
WEDC prior to the job commencement. Adequate training 
allowed our trainees to complete the first batch of work with 
ease and the goods were promptly delivered to SIA. 

MINDS Social Enterprise Units
MINDS Water
MINDS Water is another initiative started in January 2016 to 
boost the financial lot of our trainees, and more importantly, 
to engage them productively and fruitfully towards an 
inclusive society.

For a start, 30 trainees, who are on high support needs, were 
selected to spearhead the project. A sticker with MINDS logo 
is pasted onto the bottle cap of each bottled water. Besides 
claiming and fortifying the ownership of MINDS with the logo, 
the process of pasting redefines the subtle and simplistic 
way of job creation, setting up a work standard to benefit our 
trainees. The whole work process entails pasting, packing 
and sealing. The bottled water comes in two capacity of 
350ml and 500ml of 24 bottles per carton. It takes an average 
of 5 minutes for a trainee to paste all 24 stickers onto the 
24 bottles. 

social enterprise &
employment development
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Since the launch of MINDS Water, the responses from 
corporate partners and other customers have been positive. 
Government agencies and banks such as National Council 
of Social Service, Ministry of Social and Family Development, 
OCBC Bank and DBS Bank have expressed their support by 
purchasing MINDS Water for their own events. 

Besides the monetary incentives raked in from the sales of 
the bottled water, the intangible benefits far outweigh the 
former, as our trainees seem to enjoy their work with renewed 
confidence and exuberance. Through practice and focus in 
skills training, further improvement is expected and every 
trainee is given an opportunity to develop his/her potential 
to the fullest. 

MINDS Bakers
MINDS Bakers which was set up in early 2012, has grown 
into a promising and successful social enterprise. 

This project group showed a tremendous leap in the 
revenue generated compared to the previous years with 
the introduction of an additional two ovens and mixers in 
2015. In the year 2014, the revenue generated was around 
$39,000. In the year 2015, the revenue generated from this 
project group was close to $121,000. 

The significant increase in revenue has boosted the moral of 
the team and opportunities to expand this project are being 

 Sticking labels on the caps of the bottled water. 

looked into to engage more trainees to benefit from this 
programme; and be part of the team.

In the year 2015, we received a huge order for cookies 
from National Computer System (NCS). They ordered about 
6,900 jars of Dark Chocolate Chip Oatmeal cookies for 
their customers. It was indeed a great challenge to take on 
this order. Nevertheless, it provided great opportunities for 
the clients' skills set to be enhanced further. It gave great 
pleasure to the MINDS Bakers team when the project was 
successfully completed. 

The team then explored baking new products for Christmas 
2015 and Chinese New Year 2016 which was also well 
received by the public. We had overwhelming online orders. 

Currently, our online catalogue is being reviewed to add in 
more new products as the pool of customers are increasing.
 

MINDS Shop 
MINDS set up a sorting unit within MINDS Shop to cope with 
the increasing load of donated items. Five MINDS clients 
were assessed by their Occupational Therapists and were 
deemed suitable for the job. 

With this sorting unit, the team will be able to sort more 
items to be placed in MINDS’ Thrift Shop, providing more 
merchandise for sale. 

 MINDS' very own bottled water!

 Clients proudly presenting the cookies they have baked and 
packed for their corporate customers.

 Behind the scene: the making of MINDS Bakers pastries.

social enterprise &
employment development
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MINDS Perform 
Following their performance at the National Day Parade in 
2014, the MINDS Taiko Drum Troupe has since received 
overwhelming support nationwide and has been very actively 
performing for various events. 

In 2015, the Taiko Drum Troupe of MINDS Perform banded 
with Singaporeans' both with and without special needs 
to form an orchestra known as The Purple Symphony, 
an initiative by Ms Denise Phua, Mayor of Central Singapore 
Community Development Council (CDC) to promote inclusion 
through music.

The Purple Symphony’s first performance took place on 
31 July 2015 where MINDS Taiko Drummers performed 
together with the rest of The Purple Symphony musicians 
for 150 people at the Singapore Conference Hall. 

The Taiko Drummers had also performed on several other 
occasions with The Purple Symphony namely The Purple 
Parade on 31 October 2015 and the closing ceremony of the 
8th ASEAN Para Games at the Marina Bay Sands on 
8 October 2015.

Separately, MINDS Taiko Drum Troupe had performed at the 
opening ceremony of the 8th ASEAN Para Games together 
with 661 performers with the aim of promoting inclusiveness 
and sporting values. The opening ceremony was held at the 
Singapore Indoor Stadium on 3 December 2015. This is the 
first time the Taiko Drummers performed on a regional stage 
for a crowd of 6,000 spectators.

 The Taiko Drummers are hard at practice for the opening 
ceremony of the 8th ASEAN Para Games.

 Taiko Drum Troupe.

 MINDS Craft client crafting the red packets in celebration of 
Singapore’s golden jubilee.
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 Glass paintings of Nila that were put up for sale at the 28th 
SEA Games and 8th ASEAN Para Games merchandise store.

MINDS Craft
Revenue generated from MINDS Craft also saw an increase. 
In the year 2015, SMEDC's Craft unit generated revenue 
of more than $56,000 compared to the year 2014 where 
revenue generated was around $42,000. 

In 2015, MINDS Craft had done several SG50-themed 
projects. Some of the projects were: 

1.  National Environment Agency ordered 200 fridge 
magnets. Each magnet illustrated a Singapore icon. 

2.  MINDS Craft produced 200 pieces of SG50 Red 
Packets in five different designs for PCI Limited.

3.  In May 2015, MINDS Craft produced 39 pieces of glass 
paintings of Nila, the official mascot to the 28th SEA 
Games and the 8th ASEAN Para Games. These were 
put up for sale at the official merchandise store outside 
Ngee Ann City Civic Plaza.

4.  MINDS Craft also produced 360 pieces of handbag 
hooks with a unique SG50 design for the Singapore 
Armed Forces (SAF) as a door gift for its annual dinner 
and dance.

 The beautiful scrapbooks the clients made with the guidance from the volunteer.

MINDS Flavours
MINDS Flavours was set up in late-2014 at IEDC to meet the 
niche market of small, edible event favours. The core product 
in the MINDS Flavours catalogue is the Happiness in a Jar – 
food grade glass jars layered with goodies such as in-house 
roasted nuts, premium dried fruit and various other delicious 
fillings. The jars come in various sizes and the gift tag can be 
customised to suit every occasion. They proved to be very 
popular through the year especially as a wedding favour and 
the project unit is kept happily busy.

The Flavours unit generated sales of over $100,000 in 2015. 
This may be a modest figure but the team was pleased 
nonetheless as the first official year proved profitable. 

social enterprise &
employment development

Aside from the “Happiness in a Jar” series, other items 
that the team explored included selling foil packs of our 
in-house roasted premium nuts like almonds & hazelnuts, 
premium Japanese green tea and our own wholegrains mix 
for making salads. 

The team came up with festive-themed products for MINDS 
Christmas 2015 and Chinese New Year 2016 catalogues but 
our core customers are still the wedding couple in search 
of that special wedding favour. MINDS Flavours also has a 
special partnership with Holiday Inn in providing couples who 
get married there, the option to choose a cute pot of “Meant 
to Bee” honey packed by us.
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 Seedlings ready for delivery.

 Clients in a training session.

Special Activities / Events 
Scrapbooking 
In June 2015, a volunteer from the Ministry of Defence 
(MINDEF) shared her scrapbooking ideas with the MINDS 
Craft Team and volunteered for three months, teaching the 
clients the different techniques and ideas to make cards, 
bookmarks and scrapbooks.

The team is encouraged by its humble success and hopes 
2016 rakes in as much or even more business than 2015 did.

IEDC Farming Activities
For IEDC Farming Activities, IEDC did a successful trial 
producing 500 seedlings for Com Crop in November 2015. 
By December 2015 IEDC has been supplying monthly 
volumes of about 1000 to 2000 seedlings to Com Crop. 
With this project, clients were taught germination, nurturing 
seedlings and packaging the seedlings for delivery. 
This activity engages about 10 clients and has the 
potential to engage more clients when the demand for 
seedlings increases.

 MINDS client learning new artistic skills.

Batik Painting
MINDS Clients underwent a workshop on batik painting 
conducted by a staff volunteer from Paper Mark Pte Ltd. 
Through this workshop, they learned a new painting skill.

Christmas Stocking Challenge 2015
The Christmas Stocking Challenge raised a total $135,438 
for our clients. There were many companies that supported 
the Challenge. The team shall attempt to refresh a new theme 
and activity for the coming year. 

43rd National Para Athletics 
Championship 2015
Nine EDC clients participated in the 4X100m Relay Race at 
the 43rd National Para Athletics Championship organised by 
the Singapore Disability Sports Council (SDSC)  
in August 2015.

Inter EDC Challenge 2016
The Inter EDC Challenge was held on 12 March 2016 jointly 
organised by all three EDCs and Yishun Junior College. 
SMEDC emerged as the overall champion this year. 
This is the third consecutive year SMEDC had won the  
overall championship. 
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social enterprise &
employment development

Special Olympics Bocce 2016
The annual Special Olympics Bocce competition was held 
on 5 March 2016 where two SMEDC clients clinched the  
Gold and Silver medals. In addition, two more clients 
went home with the 4th position medals. The winning of 
the competition is a testament to their hard work and the 
dedication they have put in to prepare for this competition. 

Gloves Packing
In January 2016, 20 clients were busy with the packing of 
rubber gloves into tiny zip-lock bags which will be exported 
to overseas for hair dying usage. As this project was in huge 
quantity, it was split between IEDC and SMEDC.
 

Workability
The Workability programme is a pilot SG Enable programme 
administered by Social Food Inc that caters 1 year training 
program for moderate to severe PWIDs so that they can be 
trained to take on jobs in the food and beverage industry, in 
particular in areas of food preparation. IEDC has sent two 
teams in batches of 10 clients for this program. The clients 
are trained in basic food preparation, cutting vegetables, 
poultry and making dessert. The first batch saw eight 
clients securing employment contract as kitchen helpers in 
a few food establishments. The second batch is currently 
still undergoing training and will be considered for open 
employment placements thereafter.

Caregivers’ Engagement Activities 
CNY Shopping Trip with WEDC 
20 caregivers and their families went on a shopping trip 
during the Chinese New Year where they purchased snacks 
and food in preparation for the Lunar New Year. 

 MINDS clients raise their hands in triumph after winning the 
Special Olympics Bocce Competition.

 SMEDC bagged the Overall Champion Winner medal for the third year running. 

Staff Development
As part of the EDC leadership restructuring and development, 
senior staff among the three EDCs were rotated. Two Senior 
Training Officers are groomed for the leadership track and 
three other Training Officers have been identified and are 
being groomed to take on more responsibilities as Senior 
Training Officers.

SEED continues to send its staff for courses to upgrade 
themselves and be effective facilitators and service providers. 
These courses help expand their knowledge and develop 
skills in understanding and managing behaviours of PWIDs.
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 Nasha in his neatly pressed uniform.

Success Stories
Siti Rasyidah Bte Sarifi
Siti joined SMEDC in January 2015 where she was engaged 
to recycle headsets for Singapore Airlines. The training 
officers saw her potential in baking and recommended her 
to MINDS Bakers where she was trained to bake cookies. 

Initially, she was reserved and quiet. She faced challenges in 
keeping up with the volume of work and enduring the long 
hours standing at the counter. 

However, through constant training and supervision from her 
training officer as well as encouragement from her peers, 
she improved tremendously. Now, she is able to keep up with 
the work despite the large orders. She has also become more 
cheerful and the training officer finds her taking pride and joy 
in her work. 

Nasha Amirul Bin Jamal 
Nasha Amirul Bin Jamal was a brilliant student having posted 
to KFC – Greenridge outlet as a part-time Lobby Crew. 

Nasha started off doing housekeeping at the outlet, applying 
the skills he learned at MINDS to his work. After attaining 
his Food Hygiene certificate, he progressed to work in the 
kitchen, where he was tasked to assist in the preparation of 
food. He excelled in his job and even took the initiative to 
make deliveries to the neighborhoods in the vicinity. 

The outlet manager was very pleased with his working 
attitude and has been supportive of him. Nasha is happy and 
finds satisfaction in his work. He shared that he aspires to go 
for counter duties someday. 

Caregivers’ Breakfast Dialogue
IEDC hosted a Caregivers’ Breakfast Dialogue on  
9 May 2015 where 60 caregivers together with their family 
members attended the sharing session. It was a fruitful 
session where the caregivers shared about providing respite 
care for PWIDs, discussed the processes of deputyship and 
ways for the caregivers to destress. 

 Caregivers attending the Breakfast Dialogue on 9 May 2015 held by IEDC. 
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residential & community-based
care services

 Training a home-based care client home living skills.

Introduction 
MINDS provides residential services through its multi-service 
centre, MINDSville@Napiri where persons with intellectual 
disability (PWIDs) from 6 years old and above are cared for 
through specialised residential care and services, respite 
care, short and long-term care services.

MINDS operates five Training & Development Centres (TDCs) 
for adults with intellectual disability who require higher level 
of support and greater specialised intervention to enhance 
their independence in various skills. The sixth centre at 
Tradehub 21 has only just begun operations in August 2016. 
They are also trained in Activities of Daily Living Skills, 
Community Living Skills, Social and Recreational Skills as 
well as Pre-vocational Skills to maximise their development 
and well-being.

Key Highlights 
Home-Based Care Services
Home-Based Care Services (HBCS) started in September 
2014 and is currently in its second year of pilot. Funded 
by the Ministry of Social & Family Development (MSF) and 
Tote Board, the HBCS aims to support PWIDs through 
therapy services (i.e. Occupational Therapy, Physiotherapy), 
training and care provision, in their own home to enable 
those not receiving any services to live and participate in the 
community.

The HBCS funding and manpower model does not provide 
for a Psychologist or Social Worker, which is essential to 
address clients’ behavioural or family concerns. In order to 
address the caregivers’ and clients’ needs more holistically, 
MINDS provided additional services by the Psychologist and 
Social Worker to clients and caregivers. The Psychologist 
provides behavioural interventions to address clients’ 
challenging behaviours while the Social Worker works 
closely with the caregivers to address their concerns and 

expectations for their child and to look into long-term 
planning for them.

The importance of these two Allied Health Professionals 
(AHPs) and the need to increase HBCS service model 
flexibility has been highlighted to MSF. They are currently 
looking into the possibility of introducing enhancements in 
the short term to address some of the concerns MINDS has 
about the manpower structure.

Enrolment (Client Muster and Staff Strength as at 31 March 2016)

Programmes        Clients  Staff

Residential Services (MINDSville@Napiri) 
Home          115 58

Hostel / Group Home     49 11

Community Group Home    7 1

Children’s Wing      20 22

Total (Residential Services)    191 92

Training & Development Centres (TDCs)

Ang Mo Kio TDC (ATDC)    66 (49 Full-Time, 17 Part-Time) 20

Clementi TDC (CTDC)    65 (52 Full-Time, 13 Part-Time)  20

Eunos TDC (ETDC)     55 (38 Full-Time, 17 Part-Time)  19 

Napiri TDC (NTDC)     65 (45 Full-Time, 20 Part-Time)  15 

Tampines TDC (TTDC)    59 (33 Full-Time, 26 Part-Time)  17

Total TDCs        310 91

Home-Based Care Services    15 6

Me Too! Club        18  2
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Most of the caregivers have given positive feedback on the 
HBCS programme and noticed improvements in their child 
after receiving the service. It has been acknowledged that 
HBCS is crucial in bridging a gap for PWIDs who are unable to 
receive centre-based services. HBCS has been extended till 
31 December 2016.

Me Too! Club 
Me Too! Club was pioneered on 1 August 2015 under a joint 
initiative with the National Council of Social Service (NCSS) 
to serve socially isolated clients who are not receiving any 
centre-based services by engaging them through befriending 
services and social activities. Funded by NCSS for a period 
of three years, the programme aims to increase clients’ and 
caregivers’ quality of life and enhance their social integration.

The programme is run mainly by volunteers who befriend 
and bond with the clients through monthly outings, weekly 
activities and home visits.

Since its inception, the Me Too! Club has received very 
positive response from caregivers and clients, citing enjoying 
companionship as well as the interesting and meaningful 
activities organised for them. Some of the memorable 
activities they participated were rock-climbing, animal-
assisted therapy, music and arts exploration and even outing 
to the Chingay Parade, to name a few.

TDC Curriculum
Since August 2014, the Training & Development Centres 
(TDCs) have adopted a TDC curriculum framework titled 
“Participative in the community, Accepted in Society.” This has 
allowed the TDCs to align their training programmes according 
to the curriculum and adopt a more systematic approach 
in carrying out training. The new curriculum addresses the 
clients’ training needs more holistically in domains like social 
skills, fitness, health and wellness, leisure and recreation.

Since then, workgroups comprising MINDS Centre Heads, 
Training Officers and Allied Health Professionals have been 
set up to look at developing resources and implementation 
strategies for the different domains covered in the curriculum. 
A workshop has also been organised for staff to share ideas 
on the implementation of the curriculum and learn about 
instructional strategies to carry out training.

MINDS Sixth TDC – JTDC
MINDS is expecting to operate its sixth TDC, Jurong Training 
& Development Centre (JTDC) located at Tradehub 21 at  
18 Boon Lay Way in the second quarter of FY16/17. MINDS 
is leasing the area from Evangel Resources Pte Ltd, who also 
runs a church at the same premise. MINDS will make use 
of the premise on weekdays while the church will run their 
activities on weekends. 

The centre has a total capacity for 53 clients and will help to 
alleviate the shortage of TDC vacancies in the West where 
MINDS has been facing for many years. 

 One of the Me Too! Club clients attempting to rock-climb at Climb Challenge at Kallang Wave Mall. 

 Clients participating in gardening in CTDC community garden.
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The MSF Board of Visitors conducted quarterly inspection 
at the Home, Hostel and Children’s Wing and have identified 
several areas of strengths in these services. MINDS will 
continue to maintain the high standards of care and ensure 
that the Home, Hostel and Children’s Wing units will continue 
to perform well in all areas stated for licensing inspection.

Community Group Home
In March 2015, clients in the Community Group Home moved 
to three units of Housing Development Board (HDB) flat 
units located at Jalan Bukit Merah. These clients live in the 
community with the support of MINDS’ staff. They have also 
expressed their contentment and appreciation to be able to 
live within the community.

 A group shot of MINDS Centre Heads, Training Officers and Allied Health Professionals at the RCCS Workshop in January 2016. 

 The children from Children’s Wing out for a walk as part of their 
community living skills.

Addressing Capacity Crunch in TDCs
Two new TDCs are in the pipeline and slated to start their 
operations in FY17/18. One of the TDCs – Faber Training  
& Development Centre (FTDC) – will be located in Clementi 
while the other TDC – Yishun Training & Development Centre 
(YTDC) – which caters specifically for clients with Autism 
Spectrum Disorder (ASD), will be located in Yishun. FTDC 
has a capacity for 40 clients while YTDC has a capacity for 
61. Both TDCs are currently in their designing phase. 

With JTDC and FTDC in operation, MINDS will ease the 
waitlist for TDC placements in the West, while YTDC will help 
to address the waitlist in the North as it begins to build up. 

Since July 2013, all of MINDS TDCs have implemented  
part-time services (two or three days) to expand the centre’s 
capacity and to better address clients’ and caregivers’ needs. 
The service has been well received by caregivers. Since its 
implementation, caregivers can now afford more flexibility 
as to when they could send their child to the centre. It has 
also allowed the TDCs to admit more clients and address the 
space constraint issue.

Licensing of Home, Hostel  
and Children’s Wing
Children’s Wing was first licensed in October 2012. 
The license is valid for two years and in the last renewal, 
Children’s Wing passed the MSF’s inspection with a high 
score of 92 (out of a total score of 100). The license was 
renewed for another two years till October 2016. The next 
renewal of licence inspection will be conducted in July 2016.

Home and Hostel underwent a voluntary inspection by 
MSF in February 2014 in preparation for the eventual 
licensing of Adult Homes and Hostels. Both facilities met the 
requirements stated in the standard of care for Home and 
Hostel, achieving a high score of 90 and 93 (out of a total 
score of 100) respectively during the voluntary inspection. 
The next voluntary inspection for Home and Hostel 
conducted by MSF is in May 2016.

residential & community-based
care services
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As of 31 March 2016, the Community Group Home has 
three vacancies. MINDS will be reaching out to more clients 
within MINDS and other Voluntary Welfare Organisations 
(VWOs) who are in need of this service to fill up the 
vacancies. MINDS is currently exploring to extend the 
programme to mainstream elderly clients who are capable 
of looking after the clients admitted into the Community 
Group Home. MINDS is also looking into the possibility 
of offering Community Group Home to clients with higher 
support needs.

The Jalan Bukit Merah community has been very supportive 
of the Community Group Home clients. The clients are also 
assimilating well to the community as they make the most 
out of the community facilities such as purchasing food in the 
hawker centre and visiting the cinema in their leisure time. 
Community living has provided them with many opportunities 
to exercise decision and choice making. Their quality of life 
has also improved considerably.
 

Clients’ Training & Programme Development
The clients’ training programmes focus on a person-centred 
approach with inputs from the Allied Health Professionals, 
direct-care staff and caregivers to meet the specific needs of 
the clients. The clients are also allowed to exercise choice-
making as much as possible. Activity-based training is also 
adopted to train functionality and community living.

For the TDCs, assistive technology is harnessed to enrich the 
training of the clients. In FY16/17, Infocomm Development 
Authority (IDA) has provided MINDS funding on assistive 
technology to further enhance the use of items such as sensory 
software in the training and development of the clients.

For the FY15/16, the residential services and TDCs achieved 
the MSF Outcome Targets (EPES Targets) for training in 
activities of daily living and community living skills.

Caregivers Support 
With effect from 1 July 2015, the respite care fee for Home and 
Hostel is means tested and subject to Government subsidy. 
As a result, MINDS is seeing more caregivers seeking respite 
care for their child/ward in the residential services. It is 
hoped that with respite care provided, MINDS will be able to 
relieve some of their stress and prevent burn out. With the 
Government subsidy provided for respite care, it also means 
that it will alleviate some financial burden on caregivers.

For residential services’ clients, MINDS ensures the 
caregivers maintain their bond with their child through 
regular visits, home leave and outings. For children in 
Children’s Wing, the objective is to reintegrate the children 
with their family once they reach the age of 19 years old. 
To work towards this objective, Children’s Wing actively 
engages the caregivers throughout the period of their child’s 
stay so that the family is prepared in advance to receive their 
child back home once it is assessed to be suitable for the 
child to return home.

Community-based services – TDCs, HBCS and Me Too! 
Club – also provide respite for the caregivers when their 
child or sibling receives these services. It has since 
provided caregivers some form of relief from caregiving, 
allowing them to fulfil their obligations, pursue their interest 
or seek employment.

 In one of the activities where caregivers have the opportunity to 
pursue their interest and enjoy some respite while their children 
receive care in the centres. 

 An elderly client in one of the activity-based training sessions. 

Care for Elderly Clients
Over the recent years, the residential services face a trend 
of growing numbers of elderly clients. There are about 53% 
of the clients in the Home and Hostel who fall in the age 
category of 41 to 60 years old. Besides having intellectual 
disability, many of them are stricken with physical disability 
and other complex medical issues such as dementia, cancer 
and stroke.

The residential services ensure MINDS staffs receive training 
in providing care to this group of ageing clients. Nursing 
interventions are provided round the clock and clients 
receive regular medical screenings and follow-ups at either 
the polyclinics or hospitals. Clients with dementia and high 
nursing needs are referred to nursing home promptly to 
better address their needs.
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In FY15/16, many events and activities (outings, family 
events) have been conducted for the caregivers under the 
centre’s caregivers’ support initiative. MINDS had also held 
parents’ dialogues and home visits to gather the caregivers’ 
feedback and inform them of their child’s progress so that 
they can better manage their child at home. 

In a caregivers’ satisfaction survey collected in April 2016, 
majority of the caregivers (above 80%) gave a high rating 
(good/excellent) for the services provided by the residential 
services and TDCs.

Volunteers Engagement
The residential services at Mindsville@Napiri and TDCs 
have an active pool of corporate and individual volunteers 
who come in regularly to assist in the various programmes. 
The activities conducted by Me Too! Club are run mainly 
by volunteers who actively organise these activities and 
participate in them. The volunteers are also befrienders who 
reach out to the clients and caregivers by conducting regular 
home visits as well.

In FY15/16, RCCS continued to work with the local 
community to enhance service delivery by actively engaging 
the community and volunteers to form an active support 
base, which helps sustain the continual conduct of creative 
and stimulating activities and programmes for the clients.

Staff Training & Development 
In FY15/16, MINDS staff went for an overseas study trip 
to one of the largest VWOs in Hong Kong – Hong Chi 
Association. The objectives of the trip were to study the good 
practices in their residential services and community-based 
programmes and at the same time, foster new ties with them 
for potential collaborations in service and staff developments 
in the future. Through this trip, the staff learned several 
pointers from the Hong Kong counterparts. Some of these 
learning points can be incorporated into the plans for clients’ 
and staff’s development. 

Throughout the year, there were several TDC staffs who took 
the Diploma in Disability Studies (DDS). They are now better 
equipped to handle the clients’ training programmes. Apart 
from this, the staffs have also attended several other training 
sessions such as first aid, positive behaviour management, 
Key Word Sign, strategies for management of challenging 
behaviours (SMCB), ageing and geriatric care. Several of 
the foreign nursing staff had passed the Singapore Nursing 
Board Exam and advanced to State Enrolled and State 
Registered Nurses.

In accordance to MSF licensing requirement, 50 per cent 
of the staff in MINDS Home, Hostel and Children’s Wing 
attended 50 hours of training per year. 70% of the total staffs 
have acquired the first aid certificate.

 The band of Me Too! Club volunteers and clients attempt to 
balance on a mega see-saw at Camp Challenge in Sembawang. 

 Staff training and development.

 Enlightening experience for MINDS staff as they visited Hong 
Chi Association in Hong Kong.

 Clients singing.

residential & community-based
care services
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allied health 
professional services

Introduction
The Allied Health Professional (AHP) Services team 
comprises Occupational Therapists (OTs), Physiotherapists 
(PTs), Speech Therapists, Psychologists and Social 
Workers. Supporting MINDS’ residential services, schools 
and adult centres, the AHPs provide holistic interventions 
for the clients and their families so as to maximise their 
development and well-being.

The AHP agenda for the year ending March 2016 focused 
on three key areas that are aligned with strategic directions 
for AHP services. These areas are raising service 
standards for MINDS clients and families; providing quality 
training to direct care providers (staff and parents or 
caregivers) and supporting the professional development 
and welfare of AHPs.

AHP services are guided by a panel of expert volunteers in 
the sub-committee (Dr. Chua Hong Choon, Dr. Wong Mei Yin, 
Mr JR Karthikeyan and Mr Frederick Low) led by chairperson, 
Mr Manojit Sen.

Key Highlights
Raising Service Standards for MINDS clients 
and families
In an effort to providing quality and evidence-based 
interventions for MINDS clients and families, the AHPs 
continue to be trained in relevant interventions such as 
“Signposts for Building Better Behaviour”, and  
“Key Word Sign (KWS) as an Augmentative and Alternative 
Communication”. To date, nine AHPs have successfully 
received certification, and have been conducting training 
workshops to caregivers. 
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allied health 
professional services
For the second year into KWS implementation, the KWS 
committee, which comprises representatives from the various 
MINDS schools and centres, drove initiatives to reinforce 
the core signs among training officers (TOs), caregivers and 
clients. Revolved around the theme “Revisiting 50 Key Word 
Signs at MINDS – Use it or Lose it,” the committee organised 
game activities that enabled staff and caregivers to practise 
using the signs in various contexts. MINDS also collaborated 
with Republic Polytechnic to develop a “Speech / Text-to-
Sign” App, which provides a feed of video clips of MINDS 
staffs demonstrating the use of the 50 core signs. This app 
enables the caregivers and clients to watch and learn about 
the different signs, even when they are on the go. The app 
is currently in the process of launching with a small group of 
staff and caregivers.

 An FGS student who is wearing a T-jacket, working on a task.

In addition to providing evidence-based interventions, 
the AHPs are encouraged to assess the effectiveness 
of client interventions through research. For example, 
MINDS OTs carried out a pilot study with students with 
Autism-Spectrum Disorder (ASD) on the effectiveness 
of T-Jacket, a wearable touch technology vest that 
provides deep touch pressure to wearers to simulate 
the feeling of a hug with laterally applied air pressure. 
During the pilot study, the OTs studied specific behavior 
outcomes such as on-seat behavior, attention to task 
and self-stimulatory behavior. 

The OTs and PTs at MINDS schools had also conducted 
research to assess the effectiveness of their intervention 
programmes. This research was shared at the MINDS 
Symposium in May 2016.

 Caregivers who attended the Signposts training programe 
conducted by AHPs are now signposts certified! 

Providing Quality Training to MINDS staff 
and caregivers / parents 
In 2015, MINDS AHPs conducted a variety of training 
workshops for MINDS staff and caregivers to equip them 
with relevant skills.

In July 2015, MINDS Social Workers trained MINDS 
Clerical Officers and Social Work Assistants in relaying 
key information when calls and/or requests are made by 
prospective caregivers. The training workshop enhanced 
their listening skills set and taught them to enquire 
effectively to obtain essential information. 
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In August 2015, MINDS OTs and PTs conducted a 
workshop for Training Officers (TOs) on “Work Place 
Safety and Health” and “Therapeutic Exercises and 
Activities Using Everyday Items and Community 
Resources”. The workshop was well received by the 
participants. 

Regular runs of Basic KWS training workshops were 
also conducted for caregivers and staff by certified KWS 
presenters. These workshops were extended to external 
stakeholders, such as the students from Republic 
Polytechnic and Speech-Language Hearing Association 
(SHAS) members.

During the Residential & Community-Based Services 
Day in January 2016, MINDS PTs conducted a workshop 
for the TOs on “Physiotherapy Fitness Programmes 
for Adults and Elderly with Intellectual Disability.” This 
workshop was conducted to raise awareness on the 
importance of physical fitness and well-being of clients in 
the Training & Development Centres.

In February 2016, MINDS Head PT, along with 
MINDS Therapist Assistant, conducted a workshop 
on “Prevention of Injury at Work (Work-related 
musculoskeletal disorders)” for teachers at MINDS 
Woodlands Gardens School. 

Professional Development and Staff 
Welfare of AHPs
MINDS AHPs continue to receive regularly scheduled 
supervision and peer consultations from Senior and 
Head AHPs. Through stringent supervision by MINDS 
OTs, MINDS has gained a newly registered therapist 
who attained full registration with the Allied Health 
Professionals Council (AHPC) in 2015. The OTs will 
continue to provide the required supervision to help three 
other therapists to progress towards full registration.

 Video-making in progress: one of the KWS Committee members 
demonstrating a key word sign for the “Speech/Text-to-Sign” App. 

 MINDS social worker fielding questions during the presentation  
at AFID.

 The various training workhops conducted by AHPs.
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professional services

MINDS continues to advance the skills of MINDS AHPs 
by providing them with research guidance and support. 
In October 2015, two AHPs represented MINDS at 
the Asian Federation on Intellectual Disabilities (AFID) 
conference in Sri Lanka with poster presentation on 
“Support Programme for Invisible Children – Siblings of 
Clients with Special Needs” and a paper presentation on 
“Physical Fitness and Health Programmes at MINDS”. 

In addition, there were also four research studies done 
by MINDS AHPs in relation to client interventions or 
assessments. To date, one of the papers has been 
accepted for presentation at an overseas OT conference 
in Galway, Ireland; while two of the papers have been 
accepted at the upcoming International Association for 
the Scientific Study of Intellectual and Developmental 
Disabilities (IASSIDD) 15th World Congress in Melbourne, 
Australia. The fourth paper is ready for ethics review, 
afterwhich, the research study will be conducted. 

In May 2015, PTs and Therapist Assistants attended 
the World Confederation for Physical Therapy 
Congress (WCPTC) 2015 held in Singapore. Over 
4,000 professionals from 114 countries attended the 
conference. During this event, MINDS PTs and Therapist 
Assistants hosted international delegates from Hong 
Kong, India, South Africa and Mali as part of the WCPTC 
clinical visits to local agencies. MINDS Head PT also 
shared with them about MINDS’ physiotherapy services. 

In October 2015, MINDS AHPs participated in the 
yearly retreat, which aimed to foster bonding among the 
staff and skills on self-care. The highlight of the retreat 
included an amazing race where AHPs came together to 
work out strategies to complete the race.

 AHP staff enjoy making “stomp music” – one of the programmes 
during the yearly retreat

 AHP sub-committee chairperson, Mr Manojit Sen, and MINDS CEO, Mr Keh Eng Song addressing the AHP crowd.

 MINDS PT and Therapist Assistants at WCPTC.
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caregivers 
support

Introduction 
The Caregivers Support Initiative formed in each of MINDS 
direct service centre as part of MINDS Caregivers Support 
Services, is supported and monitored by MINDS Caregivers 
Support Services Centre (CSSC), which was established on 
18 September 2015 at Kembangan-Chai Chee Community 
Hub. In line with the Enabling Masterplan (2012 – 2016) 
where Persons with disabilities and their caregivers will 
be supported across transition points and developmental 
phases, the MINDS Caregivers Support Services (CSS) aims 
to assist and empower caregivers through a comprehensive 
range of support mechanisms that will address their 
caregiving, financial, social-emotional and training needs. 
Through the range of services provided, the CSSC hopes to 
enable caregivers to maintain a balance between caring for 
their charges and a life outside of caregiving.

The CSSC comprises: 

• Call Services

• Information Provision

• Emotional and Social Support through counselling and 
networking services. Stress management and caregivers’ 
self-care activities with opportunities for respite time 
through provision of activities for their charges

• Financial Support through referrals to financial  
support resources

• Care Support through referral for respite care, training and 
residential services and linking of caregivers for mutual 
care assistance

• Building of caregivers’ capability through training 
workshops / seminars on skills for working with their 
charges. Bonding activities to build relationships between 
caregivers and their charges

• Collaboration for Advocacy 

• Collaboration for Innovation

CSS hopes to reach out to all caregivers of persons with 
intellectual disability (PWIDs) and provide resources 
necessary to empower them so as to enable them to 
participate fully in economic, social and cultural life and fulfil 
their aspirations through the realisation of opportunities.
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Key Highlights
In the year 2015, the CSS organised more than 50 training 
workshops and bonding activities for their caregivers 
and family members. Since setting up CSSC, close to 
700 caregivers attended the activities organised by the 
centre. More than half of the caregivers who attended 
MINDS activities found them beneficial and were interested 
to participate in similar events in the future. They have 
also indicated their interest in workshops on behaviour 
management skills, home functional skills, communications, 
future care planning, etc. and bonding activities to bring them 
closer to other caregivers.

Official Opening of CSSC
The CSSC was officially opened on 18 September 2015 at the 
Kembangan-Chai Chee Community Hub by Minister for Social 
and Family Development (MSF), Mr Tan Chuan-Jin. During 
his opening speech, he acknowledged the caregivers for their 
tireless efforts and dedications and hoped that caregivers 
would be able to have some form of respite while their family 
members were being taken care of through the various 
services at MINDS.

Empowering PWIDs and their families has been a mission of 
MINDS and with the establishment of CSSC, caregivers will be 
able to tap on the resources and information available in caring 
for their charges across their life cycles.

The CSSC will provide training to enhance their caregiving 
capabilities, organise bonding activities and sharing sessions 
to address their social-emotional needs so as to enable 
caregivers the opportunities for respite. 

Training Workshops
Facilitation Skills 
In August 2015, CSSC conducted a training workshop on 
Facilitation skills for the caregiver leaders and assistant leaders 
from the various schools and centres to equip them with skills 
to reach out to fellow caregivers. The caregiver leaders were 
also tasked to plan and organise an activity for their fellow 
caregivers as part of their leadership skills practice.

Mental Capacity Act 
In the month of August and September 2015, CSSC 
organised three talks on the Mental Capacity Act 
for caregivers and shared about a simpler and more 
economical way of applying for Deputyship. The talk was 
presented by NUS Law School students and MINDS Head 
of Social Work, Ms Ong Lay Hoon who took them through 
the procedures and elaborated on the now much simplified 
terms. The talk also included an introduction to MediShield 
Life, which was presented by the Institute for Financial 
Literacy.

90% of the attendees found the talk very useful.  
It provided the platform to enquire and clarify on the 
processes and costs of applying for deputyship.  
In addition, child-minding services were provided, which 
enabled the caregivers to focus on the topics discussed 
without worrying for their children.

Managing Behaviours of Children 
Several workshops were conducted in the year 2015 for 
caregivers that focused on managing behaviours of children 
aimed to develop caregivers’ capability in caring for their 
charges. Some of the topics presented were "Balancing Love 
and Control", "Parenting Strategies in Managing Challenging 
Behaviours”, and “How to Talk so that Your Child will Listen.”

 Caregivers attending one of the workshops focused on managing 
behaviours of children.

 Caregiver leaders hunker down at the facilitation skills workshop.

 Siblings and caregivers revel in the many activities during the 
camp, which help to bring these families closer.
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Apart from this, MINDS Allied Health Professionals had also 
conducted workshops such as “Basic Key Word Sign”, 
“Happy Outings through the Use of Behaviour Management 
Strategies and Planning” as well as “Signpost to Positive 
Behaviour” to share their professional knowledge and 
insights in communicating and managing PWIDs.

Caregivers Support Group-Work Sessions
A series of Caregivers Support Group-Work sessions were 
conducted in the year 2015 across the various MINDS 
centres and schools. These sessions were of smaller scale 
and more intimate where MINDS Social Workers address 
the specific issues and topics that were most relevant to 
the caregivers. Some of the topics covered included Stress 
Management and Self-care, Polishing Child’s Activities of 
Daily Living (ADL) skills.

Similar Caregivers’ Support Group-work sessions were held 
at Fernvale Gardens School and Woodlands Gardens School, 
focusing more in-depth on self-awareness and self-care for 
their charges.

Addressing The Young Caregivers 
– Siblings
MINDS has been empowering the siblings in the families in 
caring for PWIDs and addressing their social-emotional needs 
to prepare them for the caregiving role through camps for 
siblings in their adolescent phase. This year, the camps were 
extended to siblings younger than 13 years of age to promote 
camaraderie amongst the siblings within the families.

Bonding Activities 
Pulau Ubin Trip
16 caregivers went to Pulau Ubin for a bonding activity 
conducted by the caregivers from Tampines Training & 
Development Centre. 

Movies Outing
Family Matters @ School organised movie outings for families 
from MINDS schools throughout the year 2015. It was very 
well received by the caregivers as it provided a respite for 
both the caregivers and their charges.

Bowling
The caregivers from Towner Gardens School organised a 
bowling session in November 2015. The session afforded 
them opportunities to network and bond with the other 
caregivers from the school.

Tour around WEDC
MINDS Woodlands Employment Development Centre 
(WEDC) organised a tour around the centre’s facilities for 
caregivers of WEDC, offering insights into life at the centre. 
Close to 70 caregivers attended the tour, where they 
experienced working at different stations and engaging 
in different work activities. The caregivers found the tour 
enriching. Some of the caregivers were impressed that their 
children’s performance at work exceeded their expectations. 

MINDS Sports Day
48 caregivers participated in MINDS Sports Day in May 2015 
where they raced and competed as a team in the 50m race. 

Caregivers’ Respite
Day Trip to Sentosa 
To give caregivers some respite from caring for their charges, 
the student volunteers from SIM University brought MINDS 
students for a trip to Sentosa. MINDS students were brought 
to the Underwater World Singapore and Dolphin Lagoon 
where they saw different schools of fish and pink dolphins. 
The students also had the opportunity to visit Fort Siloso and 
explore the preserved underground ammunition stores and 
WWII-era guns.

 The crowd watched and cheered along as the participants 
competed during MINDS Sports Day. 

 Caregivers and MINDS Staff taking a ferry to Pulau Ubin.
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corporate development
and outreach (CDO)

 In one of the public education talks conducted at Yishun Junior College.

Introduction
MINDS continues to advance the development, well-being 
and aspirations of persons with intellectual disability and their 
integration into society. Through education, volunteerism and 
philanthropy, MINDS engages various stakeholders in the 
community to integrate persons with intellectual disability 
(PWIDs) into the community, fostering an inclusive society. 

Through public education events, MINDS reaches out to 
members of the public to raise awareness and advocate the 
interests of PWIDs. Through organising various volunteering 
activities, MINDS enables opportunities for members of 

the public to empower them and their families, playing a 
fuller and more satisfying role in their lives. Through the 
philanthropic support from members of the public, MINDS is 
able to maximise the development and well-being of PWIDs 
through the sustained provision of a comprehensive range  
of quality services. 

In the year 2015, the Corporate Development and Outreach 
(CDO) team has organised 75 volunteering activities and 
31 public education events, engaging 2,680 members of the 
public and 1,989 volunteers from schools and corporates.
 

       No. of No. of No. of No. of
       Volunteering Public Education Fundraising Public Education No. of
Type of Partner  Events Events Initiatives Participants Volunteers

Schools     26 28 5 2,410 692

Corporates    39 3 6 270 1,297
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 Enjoying the music and company at the Heartstrings Walk 2015. Distinguished guests of MINDS creating an abstract painting with 
our LGS students.

 Making a totebag together.

 The host of MINDS clients, MINDS CEO, Mr Keh Eng Song and volunteers from Dell take a group shot after a successful volunteering 
activity at the Geylang-East Home for the Aged. 

Key Highlights 

Heartstrings Walk 2015 
MINDS beneficiaries celebrated Singapore as an inclusive 
nation at the Heartstrings Walk 2015 organised by 
Community Chest on 7 August 2015 with volunteers and 
members of the public drumming together as one united 
Singapore.

More than 8,500 members of the public joined the walk 
along with 300 other Community Chest’s beneficiaries and 
volunteers. It was the first time a special percussion element 
was added to the walk, where MINDS clients had the 
opportunity to play different percussion instruments along 
with their counterparts.

Opening MINDS and Hearts 
MINDS initiated a series of volunteering activities to galvanise 
MINDS clients to volunteer and serve the community as 
contributors through assisted volunteering with able-bodied 
volunteers from corporates and schools. Titled "Opening 
MINDS and Hearts" (OMH), MINDS clients were given 
opportunities to play an active role in empowering people 
from other parts of the community. In these activities, 
MINDS clients befriended elderly residents where they 
performed for the residents, stamped tote bags and made 
garden terrariums together.

Some of the organisations MINDS clients volunteered were 
the Singapore Cheshire Home, Lee Ah Mooi Home and 
Geylang-East Home for the Aged.

Visit by Wives of Singapore’s Honorary 
Consuls-General
MINDS had the honour of receiving 22 distinguished wives 
of Singapore's Honorary Consuls-General (HCG), whose 
husbands are businessmen and community leaders chosen 
by Singapore’s Ministry of Foreign Affairs to offer consular 
services to Singaporeans abroad, on 23 April 2015 at MINDS 
SIA-MINDS Employment Development Centre (SMEDC) and 
Lee Kong Chian Gardens School (LGS). The ladies visited 
the centre and school and were treated to a spectacular 
performance by MINDS Taiko Drummers. They were also 
presented with a bouquet of paper carnations made by 
MINDS Craft clients.

Apart from this, the Super Trouper, LGS choir delivered a 
rendition of “I Believe I can Fly”, which moved the audience 
immensely with their melodious tunes.
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Volunteer and Donor Appreciation Day 
On 17 October 2015, MINDS held its biennial Volunteer 
and Donor Appreciation Day with Associate Professor 
Dr. Muhammad Faishal Ibrahim, Parliamentary Secretary 
of Ministry of Education & Ministry of Social and Family 
Development as the Guest-of-Honour, to thank the volunteers 
and donors for their dedication and contribution towards 
MINDS and PWIDs.

More than 250 volunteers and donors attended the event 
in which close to 100 corporates and individuals were 
awarded with MINDS Meritorious Service Awards and MINDS 
Distinguished Service Awards.

 Presenting the “Purple Super-Heroes” contingent.

 Assoc. Prof. Dr. Muhammad Faishal Ibrahim addressing the 
crowd. 

 Our AA volunteers.

Purple Parade 2015
On 31 October 2015, MINDS participated in the Purple 
Parade in which MINDS Hostel & Group Home partnered 
Maybank Singapore to form a “Purple Butterflies” 
contingent. Youth Corps Singapore too, expressed their 
support and partnered with MINDS Towner Gardens School 
and Ang Mo Kio Training & Development Centre to form a 
“Purple Super-Heroes” contingent.

The Purple Parade is a movement that supports the inclusion 
and celebrates the abilities of persons with special needs. 
In 2015, there were about 7,000 members of public supporting 
the parade, bringing us a step closer to a more inclusive society 
by embracing people with special needs in our community.

Appropriate Adult Service 
As of 1 January 2016, MINDS has officially taken over the 
“Appropriate Adult” (AA) Service Scheme from the Law 
Society of Singapore (LawSoc) Pro Bono Services Office, 
providing support to police detainees, victims or witnesses 
with developmental disabilities during police interviews.

The AA volunteers help facilitate the interview process 
between police and persons with intellectual or mental 
disabilities, enabling them to understand the investigation 
officers’ queries and respond more effectively.

The AA Service has a pool of 207 trained AA volunteers to 
support six Police Land Divisions. The AA volunteers will be 
given training to equip them with the necessary skills.
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Singtel Carnival 
On 3 November 2015, close to 100 students from all MINDS 
schools participated Singtel Carnival 2015 held at the 
Singapore Expo. The students had the opportunity to engage 
in activities that were designed to tap on their sense of 
hearing, seeing, touching, smelling and tasting. The activities 
also aimed to enhance their fine and gross motor skills.

The Singtel Carnival 2015 also engaged other children 
from the beneficiary organisations supported by the Singtel 
Touching Lives Fund – Singtel’s philanthropy programme. 
Through the Singtel Touching Lives Fund, more than S$30 
million has been raised for its beneficiaries including MINDS  
Lee Kong Chian Gardens School. The school has also 
benefitted from the Singtel Cyber Wellness Toolkit for SPED 
which allows the students to enjoy web-based learning 
within safe boundaries.

World Down Syndrome Day
For the second year running, MINDS donned colourful 
socks to commemorate World Down Syndrome Day,  
a day when the world participates in activities to raise 
awareness and create a single voice advocating for the 
rights, inclusion and well-being of people with Down 
Syndrome. Apart from rallying members of the public to 
wear colourful socks, MINDS also roped in residents from 
the community – Delta Residents’ Committee (RC), 
and corporate neighbours – Singapore Environment 
Council (SEC), to join clients from SIA-MINDS 
Employment Development Centre and students from 
MINDS Lee Kong Chian Gardens School for a community 
walk along Margaret Drive and Kay Siang Road. Member 
of Parliament for Tanjong Pagar GRC, Ms Joan Pereira, 
joined the walk as Guest-of-Honour.

Besides raising awareness on people with Down 
Syndrome, the community walk aimed to reach out to the 
community where they could support MINDS clients as 
they reacquaint themselves with the new surroundings 
and familiarise with a new walking route between the two 
MINDS facilities along Margaret Drive and the nearest 
bus stops.

 Marking World Down Syndrome Day with a community walk 

 Donning a beautiful set of wings and a tiara, this MINDS student 
took a photo with her favourite fairy-tale characters. 

 The MINDS student was all smiles enjoying himself at the carnival.
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MINDS
MYG

Introduction
MINDS MYG is the subsidiary volunteer wing of MINDS. 
Comprising 10 different projects, it provides weekly training, 
social and recreational activities for beneficiaries on either 
Saturdays or Sundays in different parts of Singapore to 
serve persons with intellectual disability (PWIDs).

Through regular volunteering activities, MINDS clients 
would be able to benefit from the social interactions and 
meaningful engagements, enabling them to participate as 
fully as possible in society.

Key Highlights
MINDS MYG Sports Day 2015
In 2015, MINDS MYG conducted the annual Sports Day 
at Republic Polytechnic. Dubbed as “One in a Minion”, 
the participants completed obstacle courses and 
played exciting sports like bowling and handball. The 
participants also had the opportunity to meet a larger-
than-life “Despicable Me” Minion mascot, which made the 
beneficiaries happy.

The main objective of MINDS MYG Sports Day was to 
provide a platform for beneficiaries to have fun and unwind 
by engaging in physical activities. Through these events, 
MINDS MYG hopes to encourage beneficiaries to lead 
healthier lifestyles through exercising.

ACID 2015
This year, MINDS MYG’s Annual Camp for the Intellectually 
Disabled (ACID) was held at Raffles Institution. The theme 
for this year was “Global Village”, where beneficiaries were 

Beneficiaries as Contributors to the 
Society - Volunteering with Touch 
Community Services
Working with Touch Community Services on the Meals on 
Wheels volunteering initiative, MINDS MYG beneficiaries and 
volunteers helped deliver food to homebound elderly people. 

Through this volunteering activity, the beneficiaries deepened 
their social skills as they learned to interact with the elderly. 
The beneficiaries were given the opportunity to volunteer as 
contributors of the community instead of being the recipients.

Volunteer Trainings
In the year 2015, training sessions were conducted to 
train our volunteers to enhance their skills in managing the 
beneficiaries.

MINDS MYG held experiential trainings aimed to develop 
self-awareness and empathy, which helped to broaden their 
perspectives of PWIDs. Skill-based trainings such as first-aid 
courses were also conducted to ensure that the volunteers 
are equipped with the relevant knowledge and skills to 
administer help in the event of emergencies.

MINDS MYG also organised sharing sessions for the 
volunteers to share about their experiences and inspiring 
anecdotes gathered in the course of their volunteering. 

 The night ended on a high note as they danced the night away, 
expressing their excitement and happiness through their free-
spirited dance moves.

 The participants managed to roll the ball to the specific colour 
without dropping it through their collective effort. 

 Delivering food to homebound elderly.

 Volunteers attempting to write while being blindfolded. 

given a glimpse into lost settlements and extinct villages 
through illustrations and performances. The beneficiaries 
also had the opportunity to experience the history and 
culture of various countries through the station games and 
the night carnival.
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Headcount by Sector

Employee Demography

Highest Education

Length of Service

Headcount by Age

4%

39%

57%

26%

28%

29%

18%

16%

3%
7%

26%

41%

10%

15%

22%

26%

22%

8%
1% 2%

 Staff from Allied Health 
Professionals

 Staff from Headquarters

 Staff from Residential and 
Community-Based Care 
Services

 Degree and above

 Diploma

 5 years and below

 6-10 years

 11-20 years

 Below 25 years

 25 - 34 years

 35 - 44 years

 Staff from Schools
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human resource
& talent management

Total Training Participation Rate by Sector

MINDS Staff Turnover MINDS Headcount

Year 2015/2016

Year 2013/2014 Year 2014/2015
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As compared to FY2014/15, the turnover in FY2015/16 
increased by 2%. This is mainly attributed to job fit and staff 
leaving for other job opportunities. 

MINDS headcount grew by about 2% in FY2015/16 as 
compared to FY2014/15. This is mainly attributed to the 
increase in direct care staff namely, Training Officers and 
Allied Health Professionals.

11/12
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20%

12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16

Percentage (%)

Year 11/12

559 576 614 621 635
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$2.1
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$32.9
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In the Financial Year FY15-16, MINDS started our 5th Training 
& Development Centre in Eunos and other services like 
Appropriate Adult Service and Me Too! Club to enhance our 
services to the clients. We received $54.9M in Income from 

Total Income (Million $)

Total Expenses (Million $)

various sources and spent a total of $44.4M in Expenditure 
on more than 2,300 clients. The restricted surpluses from 
both the Schools and the Association will be used for future 
improvements and expansions of programmes.

38.4 41.0 42.7 49.1 54.9
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Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore

Statement by the Executive Committee

The Executive Committee (the "EXCO") and Conduct of its Affairs

The EXCO oversees and directs the overall management of Movement for the Intellectually 
Disabled of Singapore ("MINDS"), approves its board policies and strategies and governs its 
financial affairs. It conducts regular scheduled meetings. Adhoc meetings are also convened when 
circumstances require. Ten (10) meetings were held in the financial year 2015/2016.

Specialised Committees provide support to the EXCO. Members of these committees are 
appointed by the EXCO itself. The Finance and Investment Committee provides support in 
governing the financial affairs of MINDS.

Accountability and Audit

The Audit Committee oversees internal controls and the results of internal audit work.

The EXCO has adopted the policy of declaration by the EXCO members and senior management 
staff of any personal interests that may affect the integrity, fairness and accountability to MINDS.

Opinion

The EXCO is of the view that MINDS currently has adequate internal controls to authorise and 
approve transactions and to safeguard its assets and investments. It is satisfied with the 
organisation's compliance with the relevant Code of Governance and the financial disclosure 
requirements.

In its opinion, the financial statements are properly drawn up so as to present fairly, in all material 
respects, the state of affairs of MINDS as at 31 March 2016 in accordance with the provisions of 
the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards and the results of its operations, changes in funds 
and cash flows for the financial year then ended.

On behalf of the Executive Committee:

Mr. Jeffrey Tan Fook Cheong
President

Ms Jamie Lau Lee Hua
Honorary Treasurer

Singapore
25 July 2016
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Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore

Independent auditor's report 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2016

Independent auditor's report to the members of Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of 
Singapore

Report on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Movement for the Intellectually 
Disabled of Singapore ("MINDS") set out on pages 57 to  90, which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at 31 March 2016 and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of 
changes in funds and statement of cash flows for the financial year then ended, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's responsibility for the financial statements

The Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with the provisions of the Societies Act, Chapter 311 (the "Societies 
Act"), the Charities Act, Chapter 37 (the "Charities Act"), and Singapore Financial Reporting 
Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.

Auditor's responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 
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Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore

Independent auditor's report 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2016

Independent auditor's report to the members of Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of 
Singapore

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements are properly drawn up so as to present fairly, in all material 
respects, the state of affairs of MINDS as at 31 March 2016 and the results, changes in funds and 
cash flows of MINDS for the year then ended.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the regulations enacted under the 
Societies Act to be kept by MINDS has been properly kept in accordance with those regulations.

During the course of our audit, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that 
during the year, the use of the donation monies was not in accordance with the objectives of 
MINDS as required under regulation 16 of the Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) 
Regulations.

MINDS did not hold any public fund raising appeals during the year.

Ernst & Young LLP

Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

25 July 2016
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Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore

Statement of comprehensive income 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2016

Note Unrestricted Funds Restricted Funds Total

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

$ $ $ $ $ $

Income
Income from donations 944,213 1,294,047 531,563 1,555,598 1,475,776 2,849,645
Miscellaneous income − − 18,365 34,935 18,365 34,935
Interest income from 

bonds 435,259 401,779 − − 435,259 401,779
Interest income from 

bank and fixed 
deposits 295,179 180,672 24,807 17,218 319,986 197,890

Programme income 5 − − 796,403 648,833 796,403 648,833
Contract work and 

other income 9,747 40,911 2,535,802 2,787,532 2,545,549 2,828,443

Total income 1,684,398 1,917,409 3,906,940 5,044,116 5,591,338 6,961,525

Expenditure
Direct cost incurred for 

contract work (1,469) (28,266) (2,076,697) (2,261,688) (2,078,166) (2,289,954)
Depreciation 7 − − (2,744,789) (2,617,101) (2,744,789) (2,617,101)
Minor works, repairs 

and maintenance of 
property, plant and 
equipment (4,851) (1,920) (4,160,553) (3,934,416) (4,165,404) (3,936,336)

Other operating 
expenses (85,196) (47,484) (2,556,175) (1,956,994) (2,641,371) (2,004,478)

Employee benefits 
expenses 6 (710,508) (618,542) (32,183,906) (30,671,521) (32,894,414) (31,290,063)

Programme costs (23,217) (66,719) (2,109,053) (1,909,335) (2,132,270) (1,976,054)
Amortisation of bonds 

premium 8 (63,496) (58,549) − − (63,496) (58,549)

Total expenditure (888,737) (821,480) (45,831,173) (43,351,055) (46,719,910) (44,172,535)

Operating 
surplus/(deficit) 
before government 
grant 795,661 1,095,929 (41,924,233) (38,306,939) (41,128,572) (37,211,010)

Grants
Grant income 5 13,892 4,326 49,288,712 42,118,924 49,302,604 42,123,250
Amortisation of 

deferred capital grants 13 − − 2,359,096 2,366,202 2,359,096 2,366,202

Surplus for the year, 
representing total 
comprehensive 
income for the year 809,553 1,100,255 9,723,575 6,178,187 10,533,128 7,278,442

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial 
statements.
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Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore

Statement of financial position
For the financial year ended 31 March 2016

Note 2016 2015
$ $

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 7 38,309,527 37,411,256
Held-to-maturity investments 8 13,693,500 14,007,878

Total non-current assets 52,003,027 51,419,134

Current assets
Held-to-maturity investments 8 250,882 1,000,500
Trade and other receivables 9 3,179,786 1,974,585
Prepayments 279,883 415,365
Pledged deposits 10 791,664 789,690
Fixed deposits 10 29,582,834 24,162,179
Cash and cash equivalents 10 12,931,824 7,950,117

Total current assets 47,016,873 36,292,436

Total assets 99,019,900 87,711,570

FUNDS AND LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 11 3,770,593 2,742,395
Obligation under finance lease 12 1,260 1,260

Total current liabilities 3,771,853 2,743,655

Net current assets 43,245,020 33,548,781

Non-current liabilities
Deferred capital grants 13 36,349,065 36,600,909
Obligation under finance lease 12 2,011 3,163

Total non-current liabilities 36,351,076 36,604,072

Total liabilities 40,122,929 39,347,727

Net assets 58,896,971 48,363,843

Funds
Unrestricted funds 14 16,717,512 15,247,077

Programmes restricted funds 14 8,715,437 6,147,442
Other restricted funds 14 16,868,073 12,270,176
Schools' restricted funds 14 15,579,035 13,612,986
Building maintenance fund 14 1,016,914 1,086,162

Total restricted funds 14 42,179,459 33,116,766

Total funds 14 58,896,971 48,363,843

Total funds and liabilities 99,019,900 87,711,570

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial 
statements.

- 5 -



annual report 2015/2016 Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore 59

Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore

Statement of changes in funds
For the financial year ended 31 March 2016

Note

Unrestricted 
Funds

(Note 14)

Restricted 
Funds

(Note 14) Total
$ $ $

At 1 April 2015 15,247,077 33,116,766 48,363,843
Surplus for the year, representing total 
comprehensive income for the year 809,553 9,723,575 10,533,128

At 31 March 2016 16,056,630 42,840,341 58,896,971

At 1 April 2014 27,325,297 13,851,952 41,177,249
Surplus for the year, representing total 
comprehensive income for the year 1,100,255 6,178,187 7,278,442

Transfer to deferred capital grants 13 (14,326) (77,522) (91,848)
Transfers between funds 15 (13,164,149) 13,164,149 −

At 31 March 2015 15,247,077 33,116,766 48,363,843

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial 
statements.
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Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore

Statement of cash flows
For the financial year ended 31 March 2016

Note 2016 2015
$ $

Cash flows from operating activities
Surplus for the year 10,533,128 7,278,442
Adjustments for:
Depreciation for property, plant and equipment 7 2,744,789 2,617,101
Amortisation of deferred capital grants 13 (2,359,096) (2,366,202)
Amortisation of bonds premium 8 63,496 58,549
Operating grant income (49,302,604) (42,123,250)
Interest income from bonds (435,259) (401,779)
Interest income from bank and fixed deposits (319,986) (197,890)
Property, plant and equipment written off 511 −
Deferred capital grant written off (300) −

Operating cash flows before working capital changes (39,075,321) (35,135,029)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (896,521) 23,753
Decrease in prepayments 135,482 5,530
Increase in trade and other payables 965,575 384,132

Cash used in operations, representing net cash used 
in operating activities (38,870,785) (34,721,614)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 7 (3,643,571) (1,091,042)
Interest income from bonds 435,259 401,779
Interest income from bank and fixed deposits 319,986 197,890
Purchase of held-to-maturity investments 8 − (7,198,750)
Redemption of held-to-maturity investments 8 1,000,500 1,000,000
Increase in fixed deposits 10 (5,420,655) (917,700)
Placement of pledged deposits (1,974) (1,971)

Net cash used in investing activities (7,310,455) (7,609,794)

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of obligations under finance leases (1,152) (1,039)
Deferred capital grants received 13 2,107,552 241,003
Operating grants received 49,056,547 41,459,691

Net cash generated from financing activities 51,162,947 41,699,655

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 4,981,707 (631,753)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial 

year 10 7,950,117 8,581,870

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial 
year 10 12,931,824 7,950,117

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial 
statements.
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Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore

Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2016

1. Corporate information

The Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore ("MINDS") is registered and 
domiciled in Singapore under the Societies Act, Cap 311. The principal place of activities of 
MINDS headquarters is:

800 Margaret Drive
Singapore 149310

The principal activity of MINDS is to operate Special Education Schools, Employment 
Development Centres, Training & Development Centres and Residential Services in order 
to maximise the development, well-being and aspirations of persons with intellectual 
disability. These financial statements represent the financial statements of MINDS 
headquarters, the Special Education Schools ("Schools"), Employment Development 
Centres ("EDCs"), Training & Development Centres ("TDCs") and Residential Services, 
administered by MINDS. The various programmes are:

Schools

Fernvale Gardens School 
Lee Kong Chian Gardens School 
Towner Gardens School 
Woodlands Gardens School

EDCs

IDEA Employment Development Centre 
SIA – MINDS Employment Development Centre 
Woodlands Employment Development Centre 

TDCs

Ang Mo Kio Training & Development Centre
Clementi Training & Development Centre
Eunos Training & Development Centre
Napiri Training & Development Centre
Tampines Training & Development Centre

Residential Services

MINDSVille@Napiri – Home 
MINDSVille@Napiri – Hostel
MINDSVille@Napiri – Children's Wing

Others

Job Placement and Job Support Service
Community Group Home
MINDS MYG
Home Based Care Services
Me Too! Club

MINDS is registered as a charity under the Charities Act, Chapter 37 and is also approved 
as an Institution of a Public Character ("IPC"). The IPC status will expire on 30 September 
2016.
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Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore

Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2016

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial 
Reporting Standards ("FRS").

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except as disclosed 
in the accounting policies below.

The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars ("SGD" or "$").

2.2 Changes in accounting policies

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year 
except in the current financial year, the MINDS has adopted all the new and revised 
standards which are effective for annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 April
2015. The adoption of these standards did not have any effect on the financial performance 
or position of the MINDS.

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective

The MINDS has not adopted the following standards that have been issued but not yet 
effective:

Description

Effective for annual 
periods beginning 

on or after

Amendments  to  FRS  16  and  FRS  38  Clarification  of 
Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation

1 January 2016

Improvements to FRSs (November 2014) 1 January 2016
- Amendments to FRS  105  Non-current  Assets  Held for  Sale

and Discontinued Operations
1 January 2016

- Amendments to FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 1 January 2016
- Amendments to FRS 19 Employee Benefits 1 January 2016

Amendments to FRS 1 Disclosure Initiative 1 January 2016
FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018
FRS 109 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018

Except for FRS 115 and FRS 109, the Executive Committee expect that the adoption of the 
other standards above will have no material impact on the consolidated financial 
statements in the period of initial application. The nature of the impending changes in
accounting policy on adoption of FRS 115 and FRS 109 are described below.
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Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore

Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2016

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective (cont’d)

FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

FRS 115 establishes a five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from contracts with 
customers. Under FRS 115, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the
consideration which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or 
services to a customer. The principles in FRS 115 provide a more structured approach to 
measuring and recognising revenue when the promised goods and services are transferred 
to the customer i.e. when performance obligations are satisfied.

Key issues for MINDS’s include identifying performance obligations, accounting for contract 
modifications, applying the constraint to variable consideration, evaluating significant 
financing components, measuring progress toward satisfaction of a performance obligation, 
recognising contract cost assets and addressing disclosure requirements.

Either a full or modified retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2018 with early adoption permitted. MINDS’s is currently assessing 
the impact of FRS 115 and plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date.

FRS 109 Financial Instruments

In December 2015, the Accounting Standards Council Singapore (“ASC”) issued the FRS 
109 Financial Instruments which reflects all phases of the financial instruments project and 
replaces FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The standard 
introduces new requirements for classification and measurement, impairment, and hedge 
accounting. FRS 109 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, 
with early application permitted. Retrospective application is required, but comparative 
information is not compulsory. The adoption of FRS 109 will have an effect on the 
classification and measurement of the MINDS’s financial assets, but no impact on the 
classification and measurement of the MINDS’s financial liabilities.

2.4 Foreign currency

The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars, which is also MINDS'
functional currency. 

Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the functional currency of MINDS and
are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currency at exchange rates 
approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the end 
of the reporting period. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in 
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial 
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translation 
monetary items at the end of the reporting period are recognised in profit or loss.
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Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore

Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2016

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to 
recognition, property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Property, plant and equipment which 
cost less than $500 individually are charged to profit or loss in the year of purchase.

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the 
assets as follows: 

Buildings - 30 years
Furniture and fittings - 5 years
Office equipment - 3 years
Kitchen equipment - 3 years
Outdoor equipment - 3 years
Audio-visual equipment - 3 years
Musical equipment - 3 years
Motor vehicles - 5 years

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be 
recoverable.

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-
end, and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on de-
recognition of the asset is included in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised.

2.6 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Executive Committee assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication
that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when an annual impairment 
testing for an asset is required, the Executive Committee makes an estimate of the asset's
recoverable amount. 

An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's fair 
value less costs of disposal and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, 
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from 
other assets or group of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating 
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down 
to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
expected to be generated by the asset are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market 
transactions are taken into account, if available. If no such transactions can be identified, 
an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation 
multiples or other available fair value indicators.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in profit or loss, except for 
assets that are previously revalued where the revaluation was taken to other 
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Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore

Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2016

comprehensive income. In this case, the impairment is also recognised in other 
comprehensive income up to the amount of any previous revaluation.
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Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore

Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2016

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.7 Financial instruments

(a) Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, MINDS becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. MINDS determines the classification 
of its financial assets at initial recognition.

When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in 
the case of financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable 
transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as 
follows:

(i) Loans and receivables

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market are classified as loans and receivables. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in 
profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, and 
through the amortisation process.

(ii) Held-to-maturity investments

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed 
maturity are classified as held-to-maturity when MINDS has the positive intention 
and ability to hold the investment to maturity. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss 
when the held-to-maturity investments are derecognised or impaired, and through 
the amortisation process.

De-recognition

A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from 
the asset has expired. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the 
difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and 
any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income 
is recognised in profit or loss. 

Regular way purchase or sale of a financial asset

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised 
on the trade date i.e., the date that MINDS commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require 
delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in 
the market place concerned. 
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Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore

Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2016

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.7 Financial instruments (cont'd)

(b) Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, MINDS becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. MINDS determines the 
classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus in the case of financial 
liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. 

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at fair value through profit 
or loss are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are 
derecognised, and through the amortisation process. 

De-recognition

A financial liability is de-recognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged 
or cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from 
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition 
of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the 
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

2.8 Impairment of financial assets

The Executive Committee assesses at each reporting period whether there is any objective 
evidence that a financial asset is impaired. 

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Executive Committee first assesses 
objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually 
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the 
Executive Committee determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an 
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a 
group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses 
them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is, or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.8 Impairment of financial assets (cont’d)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (cont’d)

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at 
amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. If a loan has a variable 
interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective 
interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account. The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is 
reduced directly or if an amount was charged to the allowance account, the amounts 
charged to the allowance account are written off against the carrying value of the financial 
asset. 

To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial 
assets has been incurred, the Executive Committee considers factors such as the 
probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default or 
significant delay in payments. 

If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of 
the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of reversal is 
recognised in profit or loss. 

2.9 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits, and 
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amount of cash 
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

2.10 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when MINDS has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as 
a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation can be 
estimated reliably. 

Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the 
current best estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will 
be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value 
of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre tax rate that reflects, 
where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase 
in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.11 Employee benefits

(a) Defined contribution plans

MINDS makes contribution to the Central Provident Fund scheme in Singapore, a 
defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions to defined contribution pension 
schemes are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related service is 
performed. 

(b) Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they accrue 
to the employees. The estimated liability for leave is recognised for services rendered 
by employees up to the end of the reporting period. MINDS does not allow any
encashment of unutilised leave.

2.12 Leases

Finance leases which transfer to MINDS substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value 
of the leased asset or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Any 
initial direct costs are also added to the amount capitalised. Lease payments are 
apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to 
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance 
charges are charged to profit or loss.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is 
recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis. 

2.13 Income

Income is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to 
MINDS and the income can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is 
made. Income is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable, taking 
into account contractually defined terms of payment. 

(a) Donations

Donations of cash or assets are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
as and when MINDS obtains control of the donation or the right to receive the donation; 
it is probable that the economic benefits comprising the donation will flows to MINDS; 
and the amount of the donation can be measured reliably.

Donations in kind such as second-hand goods donated for resale are recorded in the 
statement of comprehensive income in the period in which the goods donated are sold.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.13 Income (cont’d)

(b) Grant income (cont’d)

Subventions and grants from government organisations and other bodies are 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income only when there is reasonable 
assurance that MINDS has complied with the conditions of the grants. Such grants are 
recognised at fair value. Operating grants are calculated based on funding principles of 
the relevant government organisations. 

Subsequent adjustments to operating grants are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income in the year in which they are finalised by the relevant 
government organisations.

Grants received but not utilised which are repayable are included under liabilities in the 
statement of financial position.

Grant income is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy for government 
grants as detailed in Note 2.14 below.

(c) Rendering of services

Income from providing services such as contract work income, programme fees and 
other income is recognised when the services are rendered.

(d) Interest income and investment income

Interest income on bank accounts, fixed deposits placed with banks and bonds are 
recognised with reference to the principal outstanding and the rate applicable using the 
effective interest method.

2.14 Government grant income

Grants income are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be 
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. Where the grant relates to an 
asset, the fair value is recognised as deferred capital grant on the statement of financial 
position and is amortised to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset 
by equal annual instalments. 

Deferred capital grants are recognised in profit or loss over the period necessary to match 
the depreciation of the assets with the related grants. On disposal of plant and equipment, 
the balance of related grants is recognised in profit or loss to match the carrying amounts 
of the plant and equipment disposed.

Operating grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with 
the cost for which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. Government 
grants that are receivables as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for 
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to MINDS with no future related cost are 
recognised in income or expenditure in the period in which they become receivable. 

Where loans or similar assistance are provided by governments or related institutions with 
an interest rate below the current applicable market rate, the effect of this favourable 
interest is regarded as additional government grant.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.15 Funds

Fund balances restricted by external sources are indicated and are distinguished from 
unrestricted funds allocated to specific purposes, if any, by action of the Executive 
Committee. Externally restricted funds may only be utilised in accordance with the 
purposes established by the source of such funds. The Executive Committee retains full 
control to use the unrestricted funds in achieving any of its institutional purposes.

In the financial statements, four main groups of funds are distinguished: the Unrestricted 
Funds, Other Restricted Funds, Schools' Restricted Funds and the Building Maintenance
Funds. Profit or loss relating to specific activities are accounted for directly in the funds to 
which they relate.

(a) Restricted Funds

The Other Restricted Funds were set up for the following specific projects or purposes:

Name of fund Project/Purpose

Programmes Restricted Funds Income or expenditure relating to the running of
training development centres and employees
development centres of MINDS is accounted for 
in these Funds from 1 April 2009 onwards.

Central Relief Fund For the provision of supplementary income in 
the form of food rations and financial grants to 
families, particularly those with intellectually 
disabled children, who are living mainly at 
subsistence level and are dependent on 
assistance from welfare agencies.

Designated Donation Fund Relates to various contributions/donations 
received from different donors for specific 
purposes.

Employment Development 
Services ("EDS") Empowerment 
Fund

This represents the corporate partnership with 
Motorola Solutions Singapore Pte Ltd working 
towards empowering our intellectually disabled 
clients through providing employment and 
raising funds to help needy clients' families.

MINDS – SIA Community Project 
Fund

This represents donations received from 
Singapore Airlines for the welfare needs of our 
clients and the purchase of equipment to 
enhance Employment Development Centre 
training.

MINDS Special Project Fund To undertake the development of purpose – built 
facilities and/or other approved projects.

- 18 -



72 annual report 2015/2016Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore

Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore

Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2016

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.15 Funds (cont'd)

(a) Restricted Funds (cont'd)

Name of fund Project/Purpose

MINDS Good-as-New Thrift Shop 
Fund

The fund represents proceeds from a thrift shop 
which is set up and managed by volunteer 
helpers comprising expatriate wives selling 
second hand goods at a shop within MINDS 
headquarters. The objects of the fund are to 
enhance the quality of life of persons with 
intellectual disabilities.

Care & Share It is a dollar-to-dollar matching grant provided by 
the Government to enhance the capabilities and 
capacities of the social service sector and also to 
meet its rising needs.

Allied Health Professionals 
("AHP") Funds

Represent the fees and stipends received from 
AHP services provided to other organisations.  
The funds will be used for AHP related activities.

Social Enterprise Funds Represent the profit or loss amount for its social 
enterprise activities in MINDS.

(b) Schools' Restricted Funds

The Schools' Restricted Funds were set up for the following specific projects or 
purposes:

Name of fund Project/Purpose

School Fund This represents funds retained for the operations 
of the Schools.

Curriculum Enhancement Fund To promote and sustain school-based initiatives in 
enhancing the quality of the Schools curricula and 
co-curriculum.

EdusaveGrant Fund To conduct enrichment programmes and produce 
additional equipment and resource materials to 
enhance the quality of teaching and learning.

MOE Grant Training Fund For staff training by the Schools.

Additional Training Vote For registered Special Education ("SPED") teacher 
training.

High Needs Grant To provide SPED school with additional resources 
to support students with exceptionally high needs 
due to challenging behavior.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.15 Funds (cont'd)

(b) Schools' Restricted Funds (cont'd)

Name of fund Project/Purpose

Annual Grant for Discretionary 
Financial Assistance ("DFA")

To subsidize needy students who do not meet the 
criteria for MOE SPED FAS but are eligible for 
SPED School's own financial subsidy scheme.

Parent Support Group To enhance partnership efforts with parents and 
implement new initiatives to engage parents.

Opportunity fund For the welfare of needy SPED students.

School pocket money fund For the welfare of needy SPED students.

Trailblazer – Chan Chiew Ping 
Special School fund

To provide financial assistance to SPED students 
affected by the economic downturn. The fund can 
be utilised to finance students' cost of transport, 
textbooks, uniforms, meals and medicine.

School-to-work (S2W) Prototype
Fund

To support a transition programme for work 
capable SPED students who are unable to qualify 
for the current vocational certificate programmes. 
This fund is to support the hiring of manpower 
and purchase of resources for vocational 
assessment.

Public Transport Subsidy To provide a subsidy of $10 per month of ($120 
per year) to each of SPED Financial Assistance 
Scheme (“FAS”) students who declare taking 
public transport to school, as long as they are 
enrolled in the school.

(c) Building Maintenance Fund

This represents funds designated to finance any cyclical maintenance, addition and 
alteration and building maintenance works within MINDS.

2.16 Contingencies

A contingent liability is:

(a) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be 
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future 
events not wholly within the control of MINDS; or

(b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:

(i) It is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will 
be required to settle the obligation; or

(ii) The amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.16 Contingencies (cont'd)

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence 
will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future 
events not wholly within the control of MINDS. 

Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the statement of financial position of 
MINDS, except for contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination that are 
present obligations and which the fair values can be reliably determined.

3. Significant accounting estimates and judgments

In the application of MINDS' accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, 
management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other 
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the 
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods.

Management did not make any material estimates that have significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Judgement made in accounting policies

In the process of applying accounting policies, MINDS has made the following judgements 
which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements: 

Government operating grants

Government grants to meet operating expenses are recognised as income in the income 
and expenditure statement on the accrual basis in the year these operating expenses were 
incurred and there is reasonable assurance that the MINDS will comply with the conditions 
attached to it. For certain grants, the government agencies reserve the right to withdraw, 
withhold or reduce the amount of any funds approved but not yet disbursed or to call for the 
refund of all funds which have been disbursed to the MINDS if the conditions are not met.
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4. Related party disclosures

A related party includes trustees/office bearers and key management of MINDS. It includes 
an entity or person that directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by, or is under common 
or joint control with these persons. It also includes members or close members of the family 
of any individual referred to herein and others who have the ability to control, jointly control 
or significantly influence by or for which significant voting power in such entity resides with, 
directly or indirectly, by any such individual.

The trustees/office bearers, or people connected with them have not received remuneration 
or other benefits except as disclosed below from MINDS for which they are responsible, or 
from institutions connected with MINDS. 

There is no claim by the trustees/office bearers for services provided to MINDS, either by 
reimbursement to the trustees/office bearers or by providing the trustees/office bearers with 
an allowance by direct payment to a third party.

All trustees/office bearers, and staff members of MINDS is required to read and understand 
the conflict of interest policy and make full disclosure of their interests. When a conflict of 
interest situation arises, the members or staffs shall abstain from participating in the 
discussion, decision making and voting on the matter.

During the financial year, the Executive Committee has participated in a conference held in 
Sri Lanka and training program amounting to $3,095 (2015: $Nil).

Remuneration of key management staff

Included in staff costs are remuneration paid to key management staff as follows:

2016 2015
$ $

Salaries and related costs 1,699,112 2,213,039
Contribution to Central Provident Fund 117,066 259,657

1,816,178 2,472,696

The top 3 executives are remunerated in bands of $100,001 to $250,000 per annum.

2016 2015

From $250,001 to $300,000 1 −
From $200,001 to $250,000 – 1
From $150,001 to $200,000 2 2

Remuneration comprises basic salaries, bonuses, annual wages supplement, annual 
variable components and contributions to Central Provident Fund. 
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4. Related party disclosures

A related party includes trustees/office bearers and key management of MINDS. It includes 
an entity or person that directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by, or is under common 
or joint control with these persons. It also includes members or close members of the family 
of any individual referred to herein and others who have the ability to control, jointly control 
or significantly influence by or for which significant voting power in such entity resides with, 
directly or indirectly, by any such individual.

The trustees/office bearers, or people connected with them have not received remuneration 
or other benefits except as disclosed below from MINDS for which they are responsible, or 
from institutions connected with MINDS. 

There is no claim by the trustees/office bearers for services provided to MINDS, either by 
reimbursement to the trustees/office bearers or by providing the trustees/office bearers with 
an allowance by direct payment to a third party.

All trustees/office bearers, and staff members of MINDS is required to read and understand 
the conflict of interest policy and make full disclosure of their interests. When a conflict of 
interest situation arises, the members or staffs shall abstain from participating in the 
discussion, decision making and voting on the matter.

During the financial year, the Executive Committee has participated in a conference held in 
Sri Lanka and training program amounting to $3,095 (2015: $Nil).

Remuneration of key management staff

Included in staff costs are remuneration paid to key management staff as follows:

2016 2015
$ $

Salaries and related costs 1,699,112 2,213,039
Contribution to Central Provident Fund 117,066 259,657

1,816,178 2,472,696

The top 3 executives are remunerated in bands of $100,001 to $250,000 per annum.

2016 2015

From $250,001 to $300,000 1 −
From $200,001 to $250,000 – 1
From $150,001 to $200,000 2 2

Remuneration comprises basic salaries, bonuses, annual wages supplement, annual 
variable components and contributions to Central Provident Fund. 
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5. Income

Unrestricted Funds Restricted Funds Total
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

$ $ $ $ $ $

Grant income
Ministry of Education − − 17,772,377 16,560,163 17,772,377 16,560,163
National Council of 
Social Service − − 16,327,155 13,314,072 16,327,155 13,314,072

Ministry of Social and 
Family Development − − 12,054,743 10,138,713 12,054,743 10,138,713

SG Enable                      − − 1,473,775 884,445 1,473,775 884,445
TOTE Board − − 552,724 237,761 552,724 237,761
Others 13,892 4,326 1,107,938 983,770 1,121,830 988,096

13,892 4,326 49,288,712 42,118,924 49,302,604 42,123,250

Programme income 
Programme Fees − − 588,491 465,002 588,491 465,002
School Fees − − 207,912 183,831 207,912 183,831

− − 796,403 648,833 796,403 648,833

6. Employee benefits expenses

2016 2015
$ $

Salaries and related costs 28,118,513 26,664,750
Contribution to Central Provident Fund 4,147,845 3,708,342
Other short term benefits 628,056 916,971

32,894,414 31,290,063

Included in employee benefits expenses are salaries, allowances, bonuses, employer's
contribution to Central Provident Fund, recruitment expenses, staff training and 
development costs, and other staff related benefits. 
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7. Property, plant and equipment (cont'd)

Buildings with a net book value of $15,145,210 (2015:$16,024,181) were designated by 
MOE for use as purpose-built special education schools.

8. Held-to-maturity investments

2016 2015
$ $

Current 
Bonds (quoted) 250,882 1,000,500

Non-current 
Bonds (quoted) 13,693,500 14,007,878

Total held-to-maturity investments 13,944,382 15,008,378

Movement in held-to-maturity investments:
Balance at the beginning of the year 15,008,378 8,868,177
Purchase of held-to-maturity investments − 7,198,750
Redemption of held-to-maturity investments at par 

value (1,000,500) (1,000,000)
Amortisation of bond premium (63,496) (58,549)

13,944,382 15,008,378

The quoted bonds are stated at amortised cost and have fair values amounting to 
$14,250,000 (2015:$14,750,000), with coupon rates ranging from 2.22% to 4.25%
(2015:2.22% to 4.25%) per annum and maturity dates ranging from 2015 to 2022.
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9. Trade and other receivables

2016 2015
$ $

Trade receivables
Contract work receivables 340,305 344,876

Other receivables
Grant receivables 1,537,927 1,229,247
Other receivables 1,250,773 349,581
Deposits 50,781 50,881

Total trade and other receivables 3,179,786 1,974,585
Add: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 10) 12,931,824 7,950,117

Fixed deposits (including pledged deposits)
(Note 10) 30,374,498 24,951,869

Total loans and receivables 46,486,108 34,876,571

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 days' terms. They are 
recognised at their original invoiced amounts which represents their fair values on initial 
recognition.

Other receivable are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. 

Receivables that are past due but not impaired

MINDS has trade receivables amounting to $195,435 (2015:$152,224) that are past due 
but not impaired at the end of the financial year. These receivables are unsecured and the 
analysis of their ageing at the end of the financial year is as follows:

2016 2015
$ $

Trade receivables past due
Less than 30 days 179,363 125,324
30 to 60 days 6,946 12,126
More than 60 days 9,126 14,774

195,435 152,224

Receivables that are past due and impaired

MINDS has no trade receivables (2015: Nil) that are past due and impaired at the end of 
the financial year.
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10. Cash and cash equivalents

2016 2015
$ $

Cash on hand 10,635 7,645
Cash at banks 12,921,189 7,942,472
Fixed deposits 30,374,498 24,951,869

43,306,322 32,901,986
Less: Fixed deposits (29,582,834) (24,162,179)

Pledged deposits (791,664) (789,690)

Total cash and cash equivalents presented in
statement of cash flows 12,931,824 7,950,117

Cash at banks are held in interest bearing accounts at an average rate of 0.05%
(2015:0.05%) per annum.

The fixed deposits will mature within 1 to 12 months (2015: 1 to 12 months) from the 
financial year end and earn interest rates ranging from 0.25% to 2.58% (2015:0.25% to 
1.32%) per annum. Fixed deposits with maturity date more than 3 months from 31 March 
are excluded from cash and cash equivalent.

The pledged deposits of $791,664 (2015: $789,690) are pledged with a bank for issuance 
of letters of guarantees to the Commissioner of Lands. Pledged deposits are excluded from 
cash and cash equivalents on basis of its restrictive nature.

11. Trade and other payables

2016 2015
$ $

Trade payables
Contract works payable 4,207 4,582

Other payables
Accrued operating expenses 2,985,659 1,986,321
Grant received in advance 255,916 193,293
Other payables 524,811 558,199

Total trade and other payables 3,770,593 2,742,395
Add: Obligation under finance lease (Note 12) 3,271 4,423

Total financial liabilities carried at amortised cost 3,773,864 2,746,818

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 days' terms. These 
amounts are to be settled in cash.

Other payables are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. 
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12. Obligation under finance lease

2016 2015

Minimum 
payment

Present 
value of 

payments
Minimum 
payment

Present 
value of 

payments
$ $ $ $

Within one year 1,433 1,260 1,433 1,260
After one year but not more 

than five years 2,312 2,011 3,637 3,163

Total minimum lease 3,745 3,271 5,070 4,423
Amounts representing finance 

charges (474) – (647) –

Present value of minimum lease 
payments 3,271 3,271 4,423 4,423

Finance lease relates to a hired purchase of a copier in 2015 over a period of 5 years 
(2015: 5 years). The discount rate implicit in the lease is 5.64% (2015: 5.64%) per annum.  

13. Deferred capital grants

Unrestricted Funds Restricted Funds Total
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

$ $ $ $ $ $

Balance at the 
beginning of the year − 658,375 36,600,909 37,975,885 36,600,909 38,634,260

Transfer from surplus 
for the year − 14,326 − 77,522 − 91,848

Transferred between
funds − (672,701) − 672,701 − −

Received during the 
year − − 2,107,552 241,003 2,107,552 241,003

Written off during the 
year − − (300) − (300) −

Transferred to profit or 
loss account during 
the year − − (2,359,096) (2,366,202) (2,359,096) (2,366,202)

Balance at the end of 
year − − 36,349,065 36,600,909 36,349,065 36,600,909
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14. Funds

Balance at 
1 April 2015 Receipts Expenses

Balance at 
31 March 

2016
$ $ $ $

2016

Unrestricted Funds 15,247,077 2,412,052 (941,617) 16,717,512

Restricted Funds
Programmes Funds 6,147,442 22,199,642 (19,631,647) 8,715,437

Central Relief Fund 530,750 27,085 (54,811) 503,024
Designated Donation Fund 2,906,550 306,987 (116,924) 3,096,613
EDS Empowerment Fund 36,599 18 (22) 36,595
MINDS – SIA Community Project Fund 351,960 120 (22) 352,058
MINDS Special Project Fund 3,353,192 15,134 − 3,368,326
MINDS Good-as-New Thrift Shop Fund 610,277 60,677 (6,055) 664,899
Care & Share Grant 38,116 623,569 (8,417) 653,268
Community Silver Trust Fund 1,605,078 4,310,883 (1,093,222) 4,822,739
AHP Funds 76,010 31,601 − 107,611
Social Enterprise Funds 2,761,644 2,656,301 (2,155,005) 3,262,940

Other Restricted Funds 12,270,176 8,032,375 (3,434,478) 16,868,073

School Fund 13,242,187 22,002,775 (20,227,690) 15,017,272
Designated Donations − 52,706 (52,706) −
Curriculum Enhancement Fund − 205,000 (36,578) 168,422
Edusave Grant Fund 27,494 111,129 (113,096) 25,527
MOE Grant Training Fund 163,726 128,874 (113,336) 179,264
Additional Training Vote 54,767 11,341 (15,784) 50,324
High Needs Grant − 764,222 (764,222) −
Annual Grant for DFA 6,115 78,965 (38,978) 46,102
Parent Support Group 1,987 8,016 (5,693) 4,310
Opportunity Fund 46,540 25,503 (3,585) 68,458
School Pocket Money Fund 9,978 12,301 (14,960) 7,319
Trailblazer – Chan Chiew Ping Special 
School Fund 7,192 − (220) 6,972

S2W Protype Fund 53,000 − (49,075) 3,925
Public Transport Subsidy − 4,920 (3,780) 1,140

Schools' Restricted Funds 13,612,986 23,405,752 (21,439,703) 15,579,035

Building Maintenance Fund 1,086,162 16,423 (85,671) 1,016,914

Total Restricted Funds 33,116,766 53,654,192 (44,591,499) 42,179,459

Total Funds 48,363,843 56,066,244 (45,533,116) 58,896,971
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14. Funds (cont'd)

Balance at 
1 April 2014 Receipts Expenses Transfer

Balance at 
31 March 

2015
$ $ $ $ $

2015

Unrestricted Funds 27,325,297 1,921,735 (821,480) (13,178,475) 15,247,077

Restricted Funds
Programmes Funds − 18,321,337 (17,134,779) 4,960,884 6,147,442

Central Relief Fund 348,889 242,762 (58,423) (2,478) 530,750
Designated Donation Fund 6,449,982 215,196 (72,715) (3,685,913) 2,906,550
EDS Empowerment Fund 36,605 18 (24) − 36,599
MINDS – SIA Community 
Project Fund 351,860 124 (24) − 351,960

MINDS Special Project 
Fund 2,460,890 911,134 (6,112) (12,720) 3,353,192

MINDS Good-as-New 
Thrift Shop Fund 546,827 63,477 (27) − 610,277

Community Silver Trust 
Fund (280,045) 2,731,462 − (846,339) 1,605,078

Care & Share Grant − 51,431 − (13,315) 38,116
AHP Funds 36,650 40,560 (1,200) − 76,010
Social Enterprise Funds 2,256,474 2,871,953 (2,366,783) − 2,761,644

Other Restricted Funds 12,208,132 7,128,117 (2,505,308) (4,560,765) 12,270,176

School Fund − 20,603,925 (20,088,585) 12,726,847 13,242,187
Curriculum Enhancement 
Fund − 205,000 (190,040) (14,960) −

Edusave Grant Fund 26,755 117,435 (116,696) − 27,494
MOE Grant Training Fund 350,172 16,604 (203,050) − 163,726
Additional Training Vote 67,200 66,800 (53,854) (25,379) 54,767
High Needs Grant − 538,573 (538,573) − −
Annual Grant for DFA − 77,000 (70,885) − 6,115
Parent Support Group 5,112 4,888 (8,013) − 1,987
Opportunity Fund 99,444 (3,760) (49,144) − 46,540
School Pocket Money 
Fund 13,652 21,291 (24,965) − 9,978

Trailblazer – Chan Chiew
Ping Special School Fund 8,129 − (937) − 7,192

S2W Protype Fund − 53,000 − − 53,000

Schools' Restricted Funds 570,464 21,700,756 (21,344,742) 12,686,508 13,612,986

Building Maintenance Fund 1,073,356 12,830 (24) − 1,086,162

Total Restricted Funds 13,851,952 47,163,040 (40,984,853) 13,086,627 33,116,766

Total Funds 41,177,249 49,084,775 (41,806,333) (91,848) 48,363,843
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14. Funds (cont'd)

The assets and liabilities of the other restricted funds, Schools' restricted funds and 
Building maintenance fund are represented by:

2016 2015
$ $

Programmes & Other restricted funds 
represented by:

- Property, plant and equipment 37,508,217 36,646,999
- Fixed deposits 18,099,096 13,634,888
- Cash at banks 7,041,078 4,962,340
- Trade and other receivables 1,731,059 1,610,639
- Trade and other payables (38,795,940) (38,437,248)

25,583,510 18,417,618

Schools' restricted funds represented by:
- Property, plant and equipment 801,310 764,257
- Bonds 7,118,359 7,202,429
- Fixed deposits 1,366,999 2,000,000
- Cash at banks 5,890,746 3,777,467
- Trade and other receivables 1,728,610 885,176
- Trade and other payables (1,326,989) (1,016,344)

15,579,035 13,612,986

Building maintenance fund represented by:
- Fixed deposits 1,016,914 1,086,163

15. Transfers between funds 

Transfers between funds were approved by the Executive Committee to meet the 
remaining obligations of each fund.
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16. Operating lease commitments

MINDS has entered into operating leases on the premises and photocopier machines. 
These leases have an average tenure of 3 to 5 years with no contingent rent provision 
included in the contracts. The leases include a renewal clause for extending the lease 
period for a further 3 years at a rental rate to be agreed between the parties.

Rental expenses for premises and operating leased photocopiers which are recognised in 
the statement of comprehensive income amounted to $2,977,642 and $40,222 (2015:
$2,872,412 and $38,415) respectively.

(i) Future minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases for 
premises as of 31 March are as follows:

2016 2015
$ $

Within one financial year 2,626,182 2,842,946
Between two to five financial years 2,016,128 3,352,064

4,642,310 6,195,010

(ii) Future minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases for 
photocopier machines as of 31 March are as follows:

2016 2015
$ $

Within one financial year 35,291 45,604
Between two to five financial years 63,449 98,124

98,740 143,728

17. Income tax

MINDS has been granted tax exempt status as a charitable institution under the provisions 
of the Singapore Income Tax Act. No provision for income tax has been made in the 
financial statements.

18. Tax deductible receipts

During the financial year, MINDS has issued tax-exempt receipts for donations collected 
amounting to $839,362 (2015: $1,083,323).
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19. Financial risk management policies and objectives

MINDS is exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and the use of financial 
instruments. The key financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and
market price risk. The Executive Committee reviews and agrees policies and procedures 
for the management of these risks.  The Executive Committee also provide independent 
oversight to the effectiveness of the risk management process. It is, and has been 
throughout the current and previous financial year, MINDS' policy that no trading in 
derivatives for speculative purposes shall be undertaken. MINDS does not apply hedge 
accounting. 

The following sections provide details regarding MINDS' exposure to the above-mentioned 
financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these 
risks.

There has been no change to the MINDS' exposure to these financial risks or the manner 
in which it manages and measures the risks.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should 
a counterparty default on its obligations. MINDS' exposure to credit risk arises primarily 
from its trade and other receivables. For other financial assets (including held-to-
maturity investments, cash and fixed deposits), MINDS minimises credit risk by dealing 
exclusively with high credit rating counterparties.

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables, cash and deposits and held-to-
maturity investments represents MINDS' maximum exposure to credit risk. No other 
financial asset carries a significant exposure to credit risk.

Credit risk concentration profile

At the end of the reporting period, approximately 69% of the MINDS trade receivables 
were due from 1 major customer which is government linked.

Cash and cash equivalents are placed with or entered into with reputable financial 
institutions with high credit ratings and no history of default.

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are receivables 
from government subvention and deposits. Cash and fixed deposits and held-to-
maturity investments that are neither past due nor impaired are placed with or entered 
into with reputable financial institutions with high credit ratings and no history of default.

Financial assets that are either past due or impaired

Information on financial assets that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in Note 
9 to the financial statements.
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19. Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont'd)

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that MINDS will encounter difficulty in meeting financial 
obligations due to shortage of funds. MINDS' exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily 
from mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. MINDS' objective is 
to maintain a level of funds deemed adequate by management to finance MINDS'
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The Executive 
Committee exercises prudent liquidity and cash flow risk management policies and 
aims at maintaining a high level of liquidity and cash flow at all times.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of MINDS' financial assets and 
liabilities at the statement of financial position date based on contractual undiscounted 
repayment obligations.

One year or 
less

Two to five 
years Total

$ $ $
2016
Financial assets:
Trade and other receivables (Note 9) 3,179,786 – 3,179,786
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 10) 12,931,824 – 12,931,824
Fixed deposits (Note 10) 29,582,834 – 29,582,834
Pledged deposits (Note 10) 791,664 – 791,664

Total undiscounted financial assets 46,486,108 – 46,486,108

Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables (Note 11) (3,770,593) (3,770,593)
Obligation under finance lease
(Note 12) (3,271) – (3,271)

Total undiscounted financial liabilities (3,773,864) – (3,773,864)

Total net undiscounted financial assets 42,712,244 – 42,712,244
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19. Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont'd)

(b) Liquidity risk

One year or 
less

Two to five 
years Total

$ $ $
2015
Financial assets:
Trade and other receivables (Note 9) 1,974,585 – 1,974,585
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 10) 7,950,117 – 7,950,117
Fixed deposits (Note 10) 24,162,179 – 24,162,179
Pledged deposits (Note 10) 789,690 – 789,690

Total undiscounted financial assets 34,876,571 – 34,876,571

Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables (Note 11) (2,742,395) – (2,742,395)
Obligation under finance lease
(Note 12) (1,260) (3,163) (4,423)

Total undiscounted financial liabilities (2,743,655) (3,163) (2,746,818)

Total net undiscounted financial assets 32,132,916 (3,163) 32,129,753

(c) Interest rate risk

MINDS' income and operating cash flows are, to a substantial extent, affected by 
changes in market interest rates as it has significant interest bearing fixed deposits 
(Note 10). MINDS does not have any significant interest bearing liabilities.

MINDS' fixed deposits earn interest rates ranging from 0.25% to 2.58% (2015: 0.25% 
to 1.32%) per annum.

The fixed deposits are exposed to market interest rate risk. MINDS has a policy which 
governs the investment of surplus funds including the placement of fixed deposits. 
Internal guidelines have been set on the minimum investment credit ratings of the 
financial institutions where the funds are placed. 

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

At the end of the reporting period, if the interest rate risk had been 100 basis points 
lower/higher with all other variables held constant, the MINDS' net income would have 
been $295,828 (2015: $241,622) lower/higher arising mainly as a result of lower/higher 
interest income on fixed deposits.
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19. Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont'd)

(d) Market price risk

Market price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the MINDS’
financial assets under fund management will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices (other than interest or exchange rates). MINDS is exposed to price risk arising 
from its investment in quoted debt instruments. These instruments are quoted on 
reputable exchanges and are classified as held to maturity investments.

MINDS manages investment returns and price risk by investing in investment grade 
debt instruments with low risk of default and steady dividend yield. At the balance sheet 
date, all of MINDS’ portfolio consists of investment grade debt instrument issued by 
reputable companies and governments. 

Sensitivity analysis for price risk

At the balance sheet date, if the fair value of the quoted debt instruments had been 2%
(2015: 2%)lower with all other variables held constant, MINDS’ surplus for the year
would have been approximately $278,888 (2015: $300,168) lower, arising as a result of 
impairment on the held to maturity investments.

20. Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities reported in the statement of 
financial position approximates the carrying amount of those assets and liabilities, as these 
are short term in nature except for held-to-maturity investments.

a) Fair value hierarchy

MINDS categorises fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that is 
dependent on the valuation inputs used as follows:

- Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical assets or liabilities
that MINDS can access at the measurement date,

- Level 2 – Inputs other than the quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, and

- Level 3 – Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Fair value measurements that use inputs of different hierarchy levels are categorised in its
entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is 
significant to the entire measurement.

Held-to-maturity investments

Held to maturity investments are categorized within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.
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21. Management of reserves

MINDS regards its unrestricted general fund and programmes restricted funds as its 
reserves. MINDS' reserve policy requires it to maintain sufficient reserve to ensure long 
term financial sustainability and continuity for the purpose of operating effective 
programmes and in providing quality services wholly for the benefit of the intellectually 
disabled of Singapore. 

MINDS aims to achieve about 2 years of its annual total operating expenses as reserves to 
ensure that its operational activities could continue in time of unforeseen difficulty. 

MINDS is not subject to externally imposed reserve requirement.

22. Authorisation of financial statements

The statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2016 were authorised for issue in 
accordance with a resolution of the Executive Committee on 25 July 2016.
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Past Years’
Office Bearers 

Year President Vice-President Honorary Secretary Honorary Treasurer

1961 Mr Warren G Fox

1962 to 1964 Mr Gerald Evelyn De Cruz

1965 to 1966 Mr Wong Cheong Choon

1967 to 1969 Miss D K Vaithilingam 

1970 to 1976 Mr Lim Ewe Huat Mr Wong Man Kee Mr Ng Fook Kah Mr M N Campos

1977 to 1982 Mr Lim Ewe Huat Mr Wong Man Kee Mr Ng Fook Kah Mr Alwyn Lim 

1983 Mr Lim Ewe Huat Mr Wong Man Kee Mr Ng Fook Kah Mr Tan Keng Sin

1984 Mr Lim Ewe Huat Mr Robin Chua Ms Yong Chui Foong Mr Alwyn Lim 

1985 Mr Lim Ewe Huat Mr Robin Chua Mr Ong Pin Sam Mr Lim Seng Chong

1986 Mr Lim Ewe Huat Mr Robin Chua Mr Ong Pin Sam Mr Robin Chua

1987 Mr Lim Ewe Huat Mr Ong Pin Sam Mr Robin Chua Mr Tan Joon Hoe

1988 Mr Lim Ewe Huat Dr Victor Seah Mr Ong Pin Sam Mr Tan Joon Hoe

1989 Mr Lim Ewe Huat Mr Robin Chua Mr Ong Pin Sam Mr Tan Joon Hoe

1990 Mr Lim Ewe Huat Mr Robin Chua Mr Ong Pin Sam Mr Lee Ju song 

1991 Mr Lim Ewe Huat Mr Robin Chua Mr Ong Pin Sam Mr Tan Keng Sin 

1992 Mr Lim Ewe Huat Mr Robin Chua Mr Ong Pin Sam Mr Tan Joon Hoe

1993 to 1994 Dr Tan Ser Kiat Mr Robin Chua Miss Woo Ti Soo Mr Tan Joon Hoe

1995 Dr Tan Ser Kiat Mr Ong Pin Sam Mr Tan Keng Sin Mr Harphal Singh 

1996 Dr Tan Ser Kiat Mr Ong Pin Sam Mr Tan Keng Sin Mr Jeffrey Tan 

1997 to 1998 Dr Tan Ser Kiat LTC (RET) Martin Zhu Mr Tan Keng Sin Mr Jeffrey Tan 

1999 to 2002 Dr Tan Ser Kiat Mr Lee Chak Meng Col Tay Tiong Beng Mr Jeffrey Tan

2003 to 2004 Mrs Jayalekshmi Mohideen Mr Lee Chak Meng Mr Jeffrey Tan Mr Goh Siang Khin

2005 to 2006 Mrs Jayalekshmi Mohideen Mr Lee Chak Meng Mr Jeffrey Tan Mr Chng Jong Ling

2007 to 2008 Mrs Jayalekshmi Mohideen Mr Conrad Campos Mr Jeffrey Tan Mr John Lee Mong Wah 

2009 to 2010 Mr Conrad Campos
Mr Goh Siang Khin
Mr Gabriel Lim

Mr Jeffrey Tan Mr Ong Wee Gee

2010 to 2011 Mr Conrad Campos
Mr Gabriel Lim
Mr Augustin Lee

Mr Jeffrey Tan Mr Ong Wee Gee

2011 to 2013 Mr Conrad Campos
Mr Gabriel Lim
Mr Augustin Lee

Mr Jeffrey Tan Mr Ong Wee Gee

2013 to 2014 Mr Jeffrey Tan
Mr Robin Chua 
Mr Augustin Lee

Mr Lee Chak Meng Ms Jamie Lau Lee Hua

2015 to Mr Jeffrey Tan 
Mr Robin Chua
Mr Huang Cheng Eng

Mrs Doreen Yap Ms Jamie Lau Lee Hua
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Movement For The 
Intellectually Disabled Of Singapore 
MINDS Headquarters
Address: 800 Margaret Drive,
Singapore 149310
Tel: 6479 5655
Fax: 6479 0706
Email: minds@minds.org.sg

SPECIAL SCHOOLS  
MINDS - Fernvale Gardens School
Address: 7 Fernvale Road, 
Singapore 797635
Tel: 6481 6697
Fax: 6483 2631
Email: fgs@minds.org.sg

MINDS - Lee Kong Chian Gardens 
School
Address: 802 Margaret Drive, 
Singapore 149311
Tel: 6473 8332
Fax: 6473 4776
Email: lgs@minds.org.sg

MINDS - Towner Gardens School
Address: 1B Lengkong Lima, 
Singapore 417557
Tel: 6446 2612
Fax: 6243 7498
Email:tgs@minds.org.sg

MINDS - Woodlands Gardens School
Address: 30 Woodlands Ring Road, 
#01-01, Singapore 737883
Tel: 6468 0566
Fax: 6468 2142
Email: wgs@minds.org.sg

Hi Job! JPJS
(Job Placement / 
Job Support Programme
Block “Nest”, Enabling Village
20 Lengkok Bahru, #02-01
Singapore 159053
Tel: 6472 0838/6472 0836

MINDS - Caregivers
Support Services Centre
11 Jalan Ubi, Block 3, #01-21
Kembangan-Chai Chee
Community Hub
Singapore 409074
Tel: 6547 8503 
Fax: 65478510

MINDS EMPLOYMENT 
DEVELOPMENT CENTRES 
MINDS - Idea Employment 
Development Centre
Address: 29 Rosyth Road, 
Singapore 546190
Tel: 6282 4852
Fax: 6280 5078
Email: iedc@minds.org.sg

SIA-MINDS Employment 
Development Centre
Address: 800 Margaret Drive, 
Singapore 149310
Tel: 6473 1148
Fax: 6473 3885
Email: smedc@minds.org.sg

MINDS - Woodlands Employment 
Development Centre
Address: 30 Woodlands Ring Road, 
#01-02, Singapore 737883
Tel: 6366 3966
Fax: 6366 7422
Email: wedc@minds.org.sg

RESIDENTIAL SERVICES
MINDSville@Napiri
(Home, Hostel/Group Home 
and Children’s Wing) 
7 Lorong Napiri 
Singapore 547533
Tel: 6387 7662 
Fax: 6387 3357
Email: mv@minds.org.sg

MINDS Home-Based Care Services
11 Jalan Ubi, Blk 3, #01-21
Kembangan-Chai Chee Community 
Hub 
Singapore 409074 
Tel: 6547 8502 Fax: 6547 8510

MINDS Me Too! Club 
11 Jalan Ubi, Blk 3, #01-21
Kembangan-Chai Chee 
Community Hub 
Singapore 409074 
Tel: 6547 8502 Fax: 6547 8510

Appropriate Adult (AA) Service
Address: 800 Margaret Drive,
Singapore 149310
Tel: 6479 5655
Fax: 6479 0706
Email: AppropriateAdult@minds.org.sg

MINDS TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT CENTRES
MINDS - Ang Mo Kio Training 
& Development Centre
Address: Blk 134, Ang Mo Kio Ave 3, 
Street 12, #01-1677, Singapore 560134
Tel: 6456 4174
Fax: 6453 2824
Email: atdc@minds.org.sg

MINDS - Clementi Training 
& Development Centre
Address: Blk 304, Clementi Ave 4, 
#01-487, Singapore 120304
Tel: 6776 8743
Fax: 6776 8741
Email: ctdc@minds.org.sg

MINDS - Eunos Training 
& Development Centre
Address: 11 Jalan Ubi, Blk 3, 
#01-21, Singapore 409074
Kembangan-Chai Chee 
Community Hub
Tel: 6547 8501
Fax: 6547 8509
Email: etdc@minds.org.sg

MINDS – Jurong Training 
& Development Centre
Address: 18 Boon Lay Way, 
#02-97 Singapore 609966
Tradehub21 
Tel: 6252 5226
Fax: 6252 6652
Email: jtdc@minds.org.sg

MINDS - Napiri Training 
& Development Centre
Address: 7 Lorong Napiri, 
Singapore 547533
Tel: 6387 7662
Fax: 6387 3357
Email: ntdc@minds.org.sg

MINDS - Tampines Training 
& Development Centre
Address: Blk 267, Tampines Street 21, 
#01-09, Singapore 520267
Tel: 6260 5886
Fax: 6260 5686
Email: ttdc@minds.org.sg
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MINDS Headquarters

800 Margaret Drive, Singapore 149310
Tel  : (65) 6479 5655
Fax  : (65) 6479 0706
Email : minds@minds.org.sg

www.minds.org.sg
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